

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

10-18-2024

# Information-Technology-Aided Customer Relationship Management Strategies for Improving Financial Institutions' Business Performance

Joy Kudakwashe Semwayo Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Finance Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Joy Semwayo

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Matthew Knight, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Ify Diala-Nettles, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024

Abstract

Information-Technology-Aided Customer Relationship Management Strategies for Improving Financial Institutions' Business Performance

by

Joy Semwayo

MS, Leicester University, 2019

BS, Midlands State University, 2016

Doctoral Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

October 2024

## Abstract

The Zimbabwean banking industry has struggled to adopt Information Technology (IT)enabled customer relationship management (CRM), limiting its ability to effectively manage customer relationships and improve overall performance. Senior banking leaders must understand IT-driven CRM strategies to better retain customers and enhance bank performance. Grounded in functionalism and social control theories, the purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore IT-aided CRM strategies some senior bank leaders use to improve customer retention and enhance bank performance in Zimbabwe. The participants consisted of six senior leaders from different banks in Zimbabwe who successfully utilized IT-driven CRM strategies to retain customers and enhance bank performance. Data were collected through semistructured interviews and a review of organizational documents. Through thematic analysis three themes emerged: implementing CRM strategies, measuring effectiveness, and overcoming barriers. The key recommendations for banking leaders are to automate all banking operations including CRM, improve personalized services, and make phased investments in CRM technology. The implications for positive social change include the potential to improve financial access, literacy, and inclusion in the local community workforce, customer and employee empowerment, and community engagement through corporate social responsibility activities.

Information-Technology-Aided Customer Relationship Management Strategies for

Improving Financial Institutions' Business Performance

by

Joy Semwayo

MS, Leicester University, 2019

BS, Midlands State University, 2016

Doctoral Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

October 2024

## Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral research project to my son, Darryll Tinashe Mupinyuri. Your support and understanding during this journey were invaluable. I also dedicate this project to the individuals who stood by me emotionally and financially; I thank you for your support. I am forever grateful to my parents, Tennyson and Seviria, and my siblings, Merrymore, Blessmore, Chengetai, and Naboth. I love you forever. May God continue to bless you all.

## Acknowledgments

I acknowledge the God Almighty for his grace throughout the journey of conducting this research. I am forever thankful to my chair, Dr. Matthew Knight, for their invaluable guidance, encouragement, patience, timely feedback, and support; their dedication has been a constant source of inspiration and motivation. I sincerely appreciate my second committee member, Dr. Ify Diala-Nettles, and the DBA program director, Dr. Gail Miles, for their constructive feedback and encouragement at various stages of this research. Their expertise and suggestions have significantly enriched the quality of this project.

I am grateful to Walden University leaders for allowing me to study with them, providing the necessary resources and infrastructure for completing this research, and enriching my intellectual capacity. My heartfelt thanks go to all of the project participants; their quick responses, willingness to participate, and cooperation provided meaning and purpose for this research. This project was possible because of their participation.

Lastly, I am deeply indebted to my family and friends for their unwavering support, patience, and understanding throughout this academic journey. Their love and encouragement have been my strength.

List of Tables iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Project1
Background of the Problem1
Business Problem Focus and Project Purpose1
Research Question
Assumptions and Limitations
Assumptions
Limitations 3
Transition4
Section 2: The Literature Review
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature5
Conceptual Framework 5
The Meaning of CRM7
Reasons Business Organizations Should Engage in CRM 11
CRM and the Performance of Financial Institutions
CRM Implementation Strategies
The Important Role of Employees
Organizational Culture for the Successful Implementation of CRM
IT-Aided CRM Strategies
Business Problem
Transition40

## Table of Contents

Section 3: Research Project Methodology	41
Project Ethics	41
Nature of the Project	44
Population, Sampling, and Participants	45
Data Collection Activities	47
Interview Questions	50
Data Organization and Analysis Techniques	50
Reliability and Validity	54
Reliability	54
Validity	55
Transition and Summary	57
Section 4: Findings and Conclusions	58
Presentation of the Findings	58
Theme 1: Implementing Customer Relationship Strategies	59
Connecting Theme 1 to the Conceptual Framework	74
Connecting Theme 1 to the Existing Literature	75
Theme 2: Measuring Effectiveness	75
Connecting Theme 2 to the Conceptual Framework	80
Connecting Theme 2 to the Existing Literature	80
Theme 3: Overcoming Barriers	80
Connecting Theme 3 to the Conceptual Framework	
Connecting Theme 3 to the Existing Literature	

Business Contributions and Recommendations for Professional Practice	91
Invest in Data Integration Tools and IT-Aided CRM	91
Implement Comprehensive Training Programs	92
Adopt Phased Implementation Strategies	93
Establish Robust Data Governance Policies	94
Engage Stakeholders Early	94
Implications for Social Change	96
Financial Inclusion	96
Empowerment of Customers	97
Community Engagement	98
Recommendations for Further Research	99
Recommendations to Address Limitations	99
Long-Term Impact Studies	100
Emerging Technologies	101
Cross-Cultural Comparisons	102
Customer Perspectives	102
Conclusion	103
References	105
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	137
Appendix B: Interview Questions	138

## List of Tables

Table 1. Themes	59
Table 2. Theme 1: Implementing Customer Relationship Strategies	60
Table 3. Theme 2: Measuring Effectiveness	76
Table 4. Theme 3: Overcoming Barriers	81

## Section 1: Foundation of the Project

Customer relationship management (CRM) is a method of improving customer performance and loyalty. However, CRM may accrue extra costs from information technology (IT) infrastructure and may not meet business revenue expectations. Therefore, many business leaders question the necessity and relevance of CRM applications, and the current project explored its worth in financial institutions to boost business performance.

#### **Background of the Problem**

Customer attrition is a crucial subject in the banking industry and is used to determine whether a banking institution is successful (Shirazi & Mohammadi, 2019). Banking services are generic in Zimbabwe, and CRM may help retain customers. The lack of adoption of IT-aided CRM in the Zimbabwean banking industry can make it challenging to keep customers (Manyanga et al., 2022). Sibanda and Ndhlela (2018) found that CRM practices in Zimbabwe were only 4% effective in retaining clients. The general business problem that prompted me to explore this research was the lack of investment by Zimbabwean commercial banking leaders in IT-aided CRM strategies, as the banking sector continues to experience high customer defection rates and declining profitability.

#### **Business Problem Focus and Project Purpose**

The specific business problem was that some senior banking managers lack the IT-aided CRM strategies to retain customers and enhance bank performance. The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore IT-aided CRM strategies some senior bank managers use to improve customer retention and enhance bank performance in Zimbabwe. Pragmatic inquiry is a philosophical methodology that prioritizes practical outcomes, usefulness, and the use of experimentation while exploring philosophical inquiries and issues, as opposed to relying on theory (Ramanadhan et al., 2021). I collected data from six senior bank managers from commercial banks in Zimbabwe using semistructured interviews with open-ended questions. The bank websites provided a foundation for access to participants (Reese et al., 2019). Once six potential participants were identified, I accessed the banks' websites to obtain their contact information, including their email addresses and business phone numbers. Then, I contacted them via phone.

I used purposive sampling because I had access to all senior bank managers; therefore, contacting them was not difficult. Zimbabwean banks have bank codes; I picked every third bank according to the alphabetical order. Eligibility requirements for participants included at least 25 years old, a senior manager, and 5 years working experience in the banking industry. Each participant was also required to be employed by a Zimbabwean bank. Participants possessed a diploma or degree. I used the functionalism and social control theories for this project's conceptual framework. Durkheim (1893) developed the view of the functionalism theory in 1893 and identified that modern societies could propagate this theorized phenomenon. The social control theory was developed by Hirschi in 1969, and the fundamental constructs of the social control theory entail the need for social cohesion and social control for society to run smoothly (Hirschi, 1969)

## **Research Question**

What IT-aided CRM strategies do senior bank managers use to improve customer retention and enhance bank performance in Zimbabwe?

## **Assumptions and Limitations**

## Assumptions

Assumptions are statements believed to be accurate or plausible (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). I assumed that the interviewees would respond to the interview questions truthfully based on personal experience in their current roles and that they understood CRM systems and their implications on businesses. I also assumed that the selected interviewees would have adequate knowledge as senior bank managers to answer the interview questions.

## Limitations

Limitations of a study refer to any possible challenges or weaknesses beyond the researcher's control (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). Limitations are usually closely linked with the selected research design, funding, and statistical model constraints (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). Several limitations and potential limitations to this project were identified. One of the limitations was that data collection may have been a tedious process and may have taken a long time to complete. Second, participants may have needed to be more honest and thorough in their responses, which is a significant weakness when data collection is conducted through semistructured interviews. Participants may also not have had sufficient time to provide detailed answers. Finally,

the sample may have been inappropriate for addressing the research problem, and participants may have needed more knowledge to answer the interview questions.

## Transition

Section 1 provided a brief explanation of the research topic including the background of the problem, which highlighted the lack of adoption of IT-aided CRM in the Zimbabwean banking industry. The problem and purpose statement were then discussed, followed by the research question. The project limitations and assumptions were also discussed.

Section 2 begins with a review of the professional and academic literature followed by a discussion of the framework. Section 3 includes the ethics and nature of the project. Population, sampling and participants are also discussed followed by data collection activities, interview questions, data organization and analysis techniques, reliability and validity, and a transition and summary leading to Section 4. Section 4 comprises the findings, business contributions and recommendations for professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for further research, and a conclusion.

#### Section 2: The Literature Review

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

A review of the professional and academic literature is a critical and objective analysis of existing studies to understand a research topic and may assist in answering the research questions (Machi & McEvoy, 2009). The purpose of the current qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore IT-aided CRM strategies some senior bank managers use to improve customer retention and enhance bank performance in Zimbabwe. In this literature review, I focused on previous studies, journal articles, books, and other sources relevant to this research project, with approximately 50% of the sources being published since 2019. I used the following databases for the literature: Google Scholar, ProQuest, EBSCOhost, and JSTOR. Some keywords I searched were *CRM information technology in Africa, banking industry in the first world, CRM strategies, IT CRM*, and *IT in financial institutions*. In the literature review, I identified critical arguments and claims in existing studies concerning CRM and IT and also identified gaps in the literature. The literature review is organized into themes to ensure that the fundamental concepts identified are adequately discussed.

#### **Conceptual Framework**

#### Functionalism Theory

I used the functionalism and social control theories for this project's conceptual framework. The functionalism theory postulates that society operates as separate entities but is highly connected (Durkheim, 1893). One entity affects the rest and the entire community (Tandi, 2019). Durkheim (1893) developed this view of the functionalism theory and identified that modern societies could propagate this theorized phenomenon. The functionalism theory's critical attributes are the shared culture and the independent behaviors, attitudes, and interrelated traits that impact that specific community (Free, 2017). The functionalism theory was relevant for the current project because modern societies propagate the occurrence of the theory over traditional communities.

## Social Control Theory

The social control theory was developed by Hirschi, and the fundamental constructs of the social control theory entail the need for social cohesion and social control for society to run smoothly. Social cohesion entails the trust community members have for each other based on mutual assistance and common values (Manca, 2014). Social control is the actions residents instill within a society to mitigate delinquent behaviors. The logical connections between the framework presented and the nature of my project included that society operates as separate entities but is highly connected.

Functionalism theory was relevant for this project because modern societies propagate the occurrence of the view over traditional communities. Under the functionalism theory, the CRM tool supports other functional areas within the organization, resulting in increased customer retention, revenue, and profitability (T. A. Nguyen, 2019). I applied the functionalism theory for this project because the managerial body that uses the CRM tool to develop electronic customer relationship management (e-CRM) strategies is a part of the body (organization) whose function is to ensure viability and smooth operation. In Zimbabwe, banks and most organizations have a separate CRM department that provides continuous customer satisfaction. In this project, I focused on IT-aided CRM, a modern invention that increases the functionalism theory's relevance (Tandi, 2019). The customers, banks, senior managers, regulatory bodies, and other stakeholders in Zimbabwe operate as separate entities. However, each entity's actions impact other entities' prosperity in the Zimbabwean banking industry. Using the functionalism theory helped me understand how IT-aided CRM impacts clients and banking stakeholders and its overall effect on the Zimbabwean banking industry.

#### The Meaning of CRM

CRM is often explored in management and marketing literature. Understanding the meaning of CRM can provide insights into why it is essential for business organizations to develop CRM strategies. According to Elena (2016), CRM is a business strategy, an indication that business enterprises use CRM to achieve their profit objectives in the business environment. The definition of CRM was relevant to the current project because it offered an understanding of the relationship between CRM and the performance of business organizations. Elena further noted that CRM is centered on fostering and maintaining relationships with the strategic clients of the firm.

An organization is oriented toward meeting the needs and expectations of clients by cultivating strong relationships with them. The notion of the entire organization being oriented toward creating and maintaining solid client relationships suggests that CRM is grounded in organizational culture (Ullah et al., 2020). Only organizations with norms and values that enhance customer experiences can have strong relationships with their clients (Rane et al., 2023). Badwan et al. (2017) agreed with Elena (2016) that CRM is a method and technique that permits an institution to identify, acquire, hold, and nurture worthwhile clients by constructing and retaining long-term relationships.

The definition of CRM presented by Badwan et al. (2017) indicated that business organizations that develop and implement CRM strategies consider managing customer relationships as a critical driver of competitive advantage and business performance in the marketplace. The definition originates from relationship marketing, but in CRM, customer relationships are converted into a practical application. By nurturing profitable customers, business entities can also become more profitable (Bocken & Geradts, 2020).

Business organizations that value CRM believe they can achieve their profitability objectives by maintaining close relationships with their key customers. The notion of managing only the relationships of critical customers is problematic because this means that customers who are not considered highly profitable can be neglected. In the era of social media, even clients who are not highly profitable can cause reputational damage if they are ignored. R. Rahimi and Kozak (2017) argued that there is a need for business organizations to cater to the needs and expectations of a diverse customer base, especially in an increasingly competitive market. The argument indicates that business leaders cannot afford to discriminate against some of their customers because they are not the most profitable.

According to R. Rahimi (2017), CRM is a philosophy and a strategy that describes acquiring, retaining, and partnering with selective customers to create the most beneficial value for the business and the customer. The definition is not the original thought of R. Rahimi, but the author agreed without explaining the meaning of selective customers. What can be deduced from the definition is that organization leaders should invest in managing their relationships with highly profitable customers. This view was also shared by Badwan et al. (2017). However, a business organization would not continue serving a particular market if it was not profitable, indicating that the notion of selective customers means that organization leaders should focus more on their relationships with customers that are considered highly beneficial.

Discriminatory practices toward customers because of their purchasing power can lead to reputational damage for organizations. Reicher and Szeghegyi (2015) alluded to the importance of addressing the concerns of customers in CRM by arguing that the primary goal of CRM is to create and maintain customer loyalty. If senior bank managers used a CRM system to help create and retain customer loyalty, focusing only on selective customers could lead to losing customer loyalty in some market segments.

Reicher and Szeghegyi (2015) provided insights into the challenges that organization leaders face in managing the relationships of all customers. Using CRM involves the construction of personalized and long-term relations, according to Reicher and Szeghegyi, an indication that business organizations must dedicate their time and resources to creating personalized and long-term customer relations. CRM strategies should include returns on investment, meaning that organizations should focus on creating customized relations with the most profitable customers (Swathi, 2020). The notion of selective customers in CRM makes sense when profitability is considered, and using a CRM system is separated from customer service. For instance, through CRM, organizations can develop products that meet the needs and expectations of a specific customer segment. Investing in developing new products for markets that are not highly profitable does not make sense (Business Queensland, 2022), which supports the claim that CRM should focus on selective or the most profitable customer segments.

There is yet to be an agreement on whether CRM should focus only on highly profitable customers. R. Rahimi and Gunlu (2016) disagreed with the claims made by Reicher and Szeghegyi (2015) concerning CRM as a practice that targets selective customers. According to R. Rahimi and Gunlu, CRM entails building a customer-oriented culture by which a strategy is created for acquiring, enhancing the profitability of, and retaining customers that is enabled by an IT application for mutual benefits for both the organization and the customer. The definition shows that technology creates an opportunity for business organizations to develop and maintain personalized relations with all of their customers. Using IT can help reduce the costs and challenges associated with meeting the needs and expectations of an organization's customers. Anshari et al. (2019) agreed with R. Rahimi and Gunlu regarding CRM as a practice that business organizations employ to provide personalized and customized customer services. According to Anshari et al., CRM is a tool and method for managing customer interaction using technological know-how to automate business processes. CRM consists of sales, marketing, and customer service activities.

Business organizations use CRM to identify, attract new clients, nurture them, and retain them long-term. Anshari et al. (2019) indicated that CRM strategies should be consistent with the mission and objectives of the organization, meaning that an organization must develop and implement CRM strategies that include other customers of the firm. R. Rahimi and Gunlu (2016) indicated that technology is crucial in developing and implementing CRM strategies. The development of new technology has enabled business organizations to shift from the view that creating unique and personalized relationships should only target a select customer segment (Lin & Lin, 2023). Firm leaders can use CRM technology to enhance their performance in the marketplace by creating unique and customized relations with all of their customers (Zhang et al., 2020). In the current project, I considered CRM as a business strategy organization senior managers design to meet the needs and expectations of all of their customers.

#### **Reasons Business Organizations Should Engage in CRM**

CRM is an essential system that allows organization leaders to effectively communicate with its customers for the mutual benefit of the customers and the business (Kampani & Jhamb, 2020). The need to achieve a competitive advantage over other players in the banking industry is vital in realizing profitability and sustainability (Chaudhary, 2019). Business leaders can achieve profitability and sustainability through engaging in CRM systems. The following factors make it necessary for business organizations, especially financial institutions, to engage in CRM.

#### **Customer Loyalty**

Customer loyalty is a vital aspect of CRM that enhances customer relationships and satisfaction (Khan et al., 2020). CRM strategies are often geared toward enhancing customer loyalty, which can benefit the firm in a highly competitive business environment. According to Alam et al. (2021), all of the critical components of CRM, including customer knowledge, customer advocacy, and customer orientation, positively impact client loyalty among financial institutions.

The relationship between customer knowledge and customer loyalty is moderated by consumer trust. The mediating role of consumer trust shows that customers will only be loyal to an organization when their understanding of its products and services leads them to trust those products and services (Nguyen et al., 2013). Alam et al. (2021) used structured questionnaires to survey the customers of commercial banks in Bangladesh. Findings offered essential insights into how CRM by financial institutions can improve the performance of organizations in the sector. However, the study focused on the context of Bangladesh, and given the relationship between culture and consumer behavior, the study's findings may not apply to the Western context. Bhat et al. (2018) drew similar conclusions concerning the relationship between CRM and customer loyalty in the financial sector, but the study context was India. India and Bangladesh have identical values and norms, contributing to the research findings' similarity.

Bhat et al. (2018) agreed with Alam et al. (2021) that components of CRM, such as customer knowledge, can lead to customer loyalty. Bhat et al. also used a survey to examine the responses of 423 customers of a private bank in Jammu and Kashmir. A significant limitation was that the study focused on the views of customers from a single bank. Using a survey instead of interviews hindered Bhat et al. from gaining new insights into how customers perceive CRM and its impact on loyalty. Nevertheless, Bhat et al. demonstrated that customer trust in the knowledge of a particular financial institution influences the extent to which customers remain loyal to the institution. Mang'unyi et al. (2017) advanced a similar argument as Bhat et al. and Alam et al. (2021) concerning the relationship between CRM and customer loyalty in the financial sector. Mang'unyi et al. focused on the Kenyan banking sector and found that technology plays a crucial role in CRM in the banking sector.

Because of intense rivalry in the industry, organizations are investing in e-CRM to enhance their effectiveness in creating and maintaining personalized and unique customer relations. Mang'unyi et al. (2017) also determined that the nature of the technology used plays a crucial role in deciding how CRM in the banking sector enhances customer loyalty. Using robust and user-friendly systems ensures CRM leads to improved customer loyalty. A significant limitation of Mang'unyi et al.'s study was that it focused only on the Kenyan banking sector, which limited the generalizability of findings to the West.

Mang'unyi et al. (2017) indicated that CRM could lead to customer loyalty in the financial sector. Mang'unyi et al. used surveys to examine the relationship between CRM and customer loyalty. The data collection method limited the ability of Mang'unyi et al. to use research findings to develop new theories and concepts concerning the relationship between CRM and customer loyalty in the financial sector. Customer loyalty can lead to a sustainable competitive advantage in a highly competitive market. The financial sector is typically characterized by intense rivalry; this means that organizations operating in the industry can use CRM to attain a competitive advantage and improve their financial performance in the marketplace.

## Innovation

CRM can also be used to drive innovation in the marketplace. Miremadi and Ghanadiof (2021) claimed that financial institutions could use CRM as a competitive strategy not only for enhancing customer loyalty but also for identifying the needs and expectations of customers in terms of product quality and physical environment quality. Miremadi and Ghanadiof used questionnaires to collect responses from 430 bank customers in various cities. Miremadi and Ghanadiof aimed to determine how public and private banks' customers viewed the financial institutions' CRM strategies. The findings indicated an association between CRM and customer satisfaction because of enhanced product quality. Although Miremadi and Ghanadiof did not examine the relationship between CRM and innovation, their study showed that financial institutions that have implemented CRM strategies can identify the needs and expectations of customers and design products and services that enable them to meet those needs and expectations. Banking sectors can engage in innovation that enhances customer satisfaction. A limitation of the method used in the study was that Miremadi and Ghanadiof did not examine the experiences of financial institutions in terms of how CRM has impacted innovation in the institutions.

The data collection method used by Miremadi and Ghanadiof (2021) was suitable for responding to the research problem identified in their study. The authors focused on how CRM impacted customer satisfaction and loyalty, a factor that made it necessary to examine the customers' responses to financial institutions. Popelo et al. (2021) agreed with Miremadi and Ghanadiof that implementing CRM strategies by financial institutions can make organizations more innovative. Popelo et al. examined the relationship between the implementation of CRM strategies and innovation in financial institutions.

Popelo et al. (2021) showed that firms in the financial sector that use technology to engage their customers are more innovative. The authors examined the factors that enhance innovation in some of the world's leading banks and established that the institutions have invested in the latest digital technologies that enable them to have personalized relations with their customers and to identify their needs and expectations. A limitation of the research method employed in this study was that the perspectives and experiences of the managers of these financial institutions were not examined.

Interviewing the managers of the financial institutions would have enabled the study to provide insights into how CRM drives innovation in organizations. Zineldin and Vasicheva (2015) offered a better understanding of how CRM can drive innovation for financial institutions. The authors examined how banks and financial sector organizations use customer-related information to develop products that meet customers' changing needs and expectations. According to Zineldin and Vasicheva, financial institutions traditionally operate in a highly stable environment.

With the deregulation of the financial sector, organizations face stiff competition that makes it crucial to engage with customers and constantly identify their needs and expectations (Owusu et al., 2015). Using a CRM enables financial institutions to obtain relevant knowledge concerning changing customer needs and expectations and thus use the ability to design products and services that meet those needs. However, this project aims to provide new insights into the relationship between CRM and innovation in the financial sector because it reviews the literature instead of using primary data.

The ability to use CRM to drive innovation is mediated by knowledge management. According to Voican (2020), financial institutions can enhance their ability to innovate by investing in data mining to obtain information concerning the needs and expectations of customers. Voican indicated that financial institutions must shift away from the old model of CRM, where personalized and unique relations with customers were only possible when employees interacted personally with specific customers. In the new era of CRM, financial institution senior managers must invest in IT to ensure that they can obtain essential data relating to the needs and expectations of customers. Mosa (2022) argued that through new CRM technologies, financial institution leaders could monitor customers' behavior and decide how to improve their experiences.

CRM can be used to develop business strategies that enhance the performance and growth of the business. Owusu et al. (2015) noted that for financial institutions, CRM could be a means through which innovative product design is attained to improve business performance. Researchers argue that financial institutions can use CRM technologies to monitor customers' consumption patterns and loan repayment behavior to develop loan products that meet customers' needs while reducing default rates (Owusu et al., 2015). Owusu et al. focused on the financial sector in Ghana, a developing economy, indicating that the research findings may not help understand how CRM drives innovation in economic sectors in developed economies. Jerry and Ayuba (2019) made similar conclusions as Owusu et al. (2015) regarding the relationship between CRM, innovation, and performance in the banking sector. Jerry and Ayuba had a similar limitation of only focusing on the banking sector in Abuja, Nigeria, meaning that the research findings may not provide insights into how banks in developed economies use CRM to drive innovation. Jerry and Ayuba demonstrated that financial institutions could gain a competitive advantage in the marketplace by using CRM to identify customer needs and expectations and to develop innovative products. Their findings are relevant to my project because Jerry and Ayuba provided insights into how CRM strategies can lead to improved business performance. Ultimately, financial institutions that obtain data about their customers' consumption behavior and preferences can innovate to enhance their competitive advantage in the marketplace. The development of innovative products only leads to a competitive edge when the products can meet customers' changing needs and expectations.

Using CRM enhances innovation in the financial sector. Financial institution senior managers can use CRM technologies to develop knowledge of the needs and expectations of customers. Such knowledge can create new products and services that enhance customer satisfaction. Using CRM systems can lead to improved business performance because of innovative products that enhance the competitive advantage of financial institutions in the business environment (Mustikowati et al., 2021). In an industry characterized by intense rivalry, using CRM allows financial institution senior managers to develop unique products that meet customers' expectations and enhance satisfaction.

## **Customer Satisfaction**

The relationship between CRM and customer satisfaction may be evident by examining how CRM contributes to customer loyalty. Customers are only likely to remain loyal to an organization if they are satisfied with the products and services they pay for. The ability of CRM to enhance customer loyalty thus stems from its ability to enhance customer satisfaction. According to P. Kumar et al. (2021), financial institutions should develop CRM strategies to improve customers' experiences and enhance customer satisfaction. P. Kumar et al. examined e-CRM and customer satisfaction using a survey to collect data from the customers of 10 banks in Delhi, India. Five were private institutions, while the other five were public banks. The authors determined that e-CRM can enhance customer satisfaction by ensuring customers have good experiences. Through e-CRM, banking industry senior managers can evaluate the needs and expectations of their customers and implement strategies that meet those expectations and requirements, thereby providing better experiences for the clients (Mosa, 2022). Such experiences result in improved customer satisfaction. P. Kumar et al. further claimed that good customer experiences could be a competitive advantage in the marketplace.

Customers will be loyal to financial institutions that develop products and services that improve their experiences and enhance satisfaction. A limitation of P. Kumar et al.'s (2021) study was that it examined the types of experiences customers consider good experiences in the financial sector. Using a qualitative method would have enabled the authors to identify the types of experiences customers in the financial industry deem good experiences. Hassan et al. (2015) noted that financial institutions could improve the experiences of customers by using CRM to create and manage customer relations and identify customer needs and expectations to develop products and services that satisfy them.

P. Kumar et al. (2021) and Hassan et al. (2015) claimed that financial institutions could use technology to improve the efficacy of their CRM strategies and the ability of CRM practices to enhance the experiences of customers. According to Hassan et al., CRM also involves customer service, meaning that how company employees engage with customers through e-CRM can influence their experiences and, thus, satisfaction levels. Almohaimmeed's (2019) findings aligned with P. Kumar et al. and Hassan et al. that CRM can enhance customer satisfaction and function as a pillar of customer retention.

Almohaimmeed (2019) examined the perspectives of both leaders and employees to gain insights into how CRM impacts customer satisfaction. Their findings indicated that using CRM can improve customer satisfaction and loyalty, and enhance customer profitability, showing that organization leaders can record improved financial performance through effective CRM strategies. Their findings are relevant to my project because they indicated that organization senior managers could achieve improved financial performance because of improved customer profitability from CRM strategies.

Understanding that using CRM can lead to improved customer satisfaction is necessary. Various mediating factors determine how CRM results in improved customer satisfaction. Aldaihani et al. (2019) offered insights into one of these factors by examining how customer empowerment mediates the relationship between CRM and customer satisfaction in the financial sector. Customer empowerment refers to the strategies used to ensure that customers can also decide what the company offers, influencing products and services provided (Aldaihani et al., 2019). The authors focused on CRM in Kuwaiti banks and obtained data from 557 bank customers. Aldaihani et al. determined that bank customers were more likely to be satisfied with the products and services of a bank if they were allowed to make suggestions concerning services and products that should be developed. Using e-CRM enables financial institution senior managers to engage with their customers while allowing customers to voice their opinions and make suggestions concerning the organization's offerings. The authors also determined that social media is a crucial platform through which banks in Kuwait engage their customers, indicating the critical role of IT in CRM in the contemporary business environment.

Aldaihani et al. (2019) argued that customer empowerment ultimately leads to customer satisfaction because the organization leaders consider the needs and expectations of customers and their suggestions and use this information to develop strategies that enhance customer satisfaction. Bhat and Darzi (2016) thought customer empowerment was a critical CRM dimension. They claimed that customer empowerment enhances customer satisfaction and loyalty in the banking sector, resulting in a competitive advantage for financial institutions. According to Bhat and Darzi, and in agreement with the claim made by Aldaihani et al. (2019), financial institutions can use CRM strategies to improve the participation of customers in the development of business strategies and products. Bhat and Darzi noted that bank leaders should devote more resources to establishing CRM systems to gain a competitive advantage in the marketplace.

Bhat and Darzi's (2016) argument implies that financial institution leaders can record improved performance in the marketplace by investing more in systems that enhance their ability to give customers a voice and develop products and services that meet their needs and expectations. While customer empowerment is not the CRM dimension with the most significant positive impact on competitive advantage in the banking sector, it is still a critical CRM dimension for enhancing customer satisfaction. Chatterjee and Kamesh (2020) argued that customer empowerment could improve service quality in banks and, thus, enhance customer satisfaction. Customers will be satisfied not because they were allowed to make suggestions but because they were taken into consideration and used to improve the quality of services in the financial institution.

Chatterjee and Kamesh (2020) further claimed that customer satisfaction resulting from customer empowerment could improve commercials' financial performance. While this claim is relevant to this project, it does not offer a deeper understanding of how CRM, customer satisfaction, and the financial performance of financial institutions are connected since the study did not examine the views and experiences of senior bank managers. Still, their argument showed that financial institutions could improve their financial performance by investing in CRM strategies and enhancing customer satisfaction. Berraies and Hamouda (2018) provided a better understanding of how CRM, through customer empowerment, leads to improved customer satisfaction and financial performance of financial institutions. Berries and Hamouda obtained data from 216 branches of 14 commercial banks in Tunisia. The study findings indicated that customer empowerment leads to improved customer satisfaction, exploratory innovation, and exploitative innovation, which mediate the relationship between CRM and the improved financial performance of financial institutions. The findings demonstrated that financial institutions could use customer empowerment as an aspect of CRM to enhance customer satisfaction and drive innovation to improve the firm's economic performance.

Using CRM enhances customer satisfaction. Dimensions of CRM, such as customer empowerment, play a mediating role in the relationship between CRM and customer satisfaction (Miremadi & Ghanadiof, 2021). Using CRM can enhance customer satisfaction when it enables an organization to identify the needs and preferences of customers and utilize the knowledge gained to develop products and services that satisfy the requirements and preferences of those customers (Riyanto, 2022). Lamb et al. (2022) highlighted that customer empowerment is an essential dimension of CRM in enhancing customer satisfaction. Customers can attain satisfaction when contributing to discussions concerning product development and business strategy.

Customer satisfaction can be enhanced by using CRM to give customers a platform to share their views. The perception by customers that their views and opinions are valid can improve their satisfaction. A more logical relationship between customer empowerment and customer satisfaction is when company leaders engage customers and use the knowledge gained to develop products and services that meet consumers' changing needs and expectations (Haudi et al., 2022). Using CRM benefits business organizations because it can lead to improved customer satisfaction and, thus, enhanced competitive advantage in the business environment.

## Improve Effectiveness and Efficiency

Companies in business must be engaged in CRM to reduce costs and effectively achieve faster sales processing. Using CRM, business organization senior managers can stay connected with their loyal customers; as a result, the organization will receive referrals from satisfied customers and hence more sales and profits (Faganel & Constantini, 2020). If organization senior managers adequately implement CRM, there is a high likelihood that the complications that affect the sales teams, management, and administrators will be either eliminated or negligible, thus improving the sales processes, sales growth, and overall growth of the organizations (Suoniemi et al., 2021).

#### **Developing Sustainable Relationships**

Organization senior managers must implement CRM techniques to develop and maintain sustainable customer relationships. Mutually beneficial relationships are vital in ensuring that a business becomes successful (AlQershi et al., 2020). Using CRM allows the organization's employees to interact with the customers using various features (Alt & Reinhold, 2019). There are also features such as the customer help desk service that aims at answering queries and addressing their issues, retention of loyal customers, and feedback forms to assess the satisfaction of the customers, among others.

#### Targeting the Right Customers

Business leaders engage in CRM to reach out to the right customers. Automation of services enables salespersons to convert the leads into prospects and later into sales (Specchia, 2022). In situations with no online CRM system, it is not easy to convert these prospects into sales (Itani et al., 2020). This is mainly attributed to the challenge of balancing the time used in generating new leads and converting the prospects to sales. Assigning the leads to the various sales teams at the right time is also challenging (Cosgrave & O'Dwyer, 2020). However, with the help of CRM, the customer targets are usually correct, and the leads are also assigned to the salespersons at the right time.

#### Management and Streamlining of the Sales Team

A business organization can implement sales force automation software, enabling the workforce to manage efficiently; this is possible through tracking and keeping a record of the service, marketing, and sales teams and the latest updates (Gil-Gomez et al., 2020). Such a setup ensures real-time access to day-to-day activities, leading to the sales teams' high productivity, hence positive returns on the investment. Through the information collected, the company can improve its marketing efforts using the trade intelligence received (Faganel & Constantini, 2020). Therefore, this is essential for business organizations to engage in CRM.

#### **CRM and the Performance of Financial Institutions**

The previous discussions offered insights into why financial institutions should develop and implement CRM strategies. However, this research seeks to understand the relationship between CRM and the performance of financial institutions. According to Miremadi and Ghanadiof (2021), financial institution leaders can use CRM as a competitive strategy to improve their performance in the marketplace. Miremadi and Ghanadiof investigated how CRM can be used as a competitive strategy for financial institutions to improve their financial performance. The authors used questionnaires to obtain responses from 430 bank customers in various cities. Their findings indicated that using CRM can influence business strategy by getting customers' views and using the information to improve the quality of the physical environment, products and services, and electronic banking quality.

Using CRM leads to developing business strategies that enhance customer satisfaction and loyalty and increase revenue generation for financial institutions. CRM is a competitive strategy for improving the firm's financial performance because of its association with increased customer satisfaction and loyalty. A limitation of Miremadi and Ghanadiof's (2021) research is that it did not obtain data from financial institutions to determine how CRM strategies had impacted their performance. The conclusions concerning the relationship between CRM and the firm's financial performance were made based on the assumption that customer satisfaction and loyalty are indicators of a business with a competitive edge in the marketplace.

Similar conclusions were made by Kotarba (2016), who argued that CRM strategies could improve the financial performance of financial institutions. According to Kotarba, using CRM can enhance the performance of financial institutions through the management of customer data such as patterns, transactions, and profiles, client lifecycle anticipation and monitoring, customer segmentation and value measurement, customized/personalized and standardized service and products packages, product codevelopment, and campaign and the management of sales-funnel for prospects and clients to increase efficiency and cross-sell of lead management. Kotarba indicated that CRM is a means through which financial institutions can identify customer needs and preferences and work towards meeting them. Using CRM enables financial institution senior managers to serve their customers better and exploit and create market opportunities to increase revenue (Goundar et al., 2021). Like Miremadi and Ghanadiof (2021), Kotarba also failed to demonstrate how specific companies have achieved improved financial performance from implementing CRM strategies. Kotarba used a literature review as a research design. This approach limited the ability of Kotarba's study to provide new insights concerning the relationship between CRM and the financial performance of financial institutions. Sulaiman (2018) explained the connection between CRM and financial performance in more detail.

Sulaiman (2018) conducted a case study of Eastern Hararghe Commercial Bank of Ethiopia to establish how customer orientation impacts the institution's financial performance. According to Sulaiman, customer orientation of commercial banks occurs through effective CRM. The author determined that financial institution leaders could use modern technology to manage customer relations and improve customer treatment. The use of customer orientation enables financial institutions to meet customers' needs and enhance customer satisfaction, gaining a competitive edge in the marketplace and recording improved financial performance. A significant positive correlation exists between focusing on key clients and business performance, customer-focused financial institution structures, and superior banking technological know-how to enhance client service in financial sectors (Sulaiman, 2018).

However, financial institution senior managers also have to be aware of the cost of customer satisfaction, meaning that to record improved profitability, the organizations' senior managers have to either reduce the cost of doing business or price their products higher and justify those prices through marketing communication. The implication is that financial institution senior managers will only attain improved profitability if they are customer oriented. The institution senior managers have to ensure that the cost of customer satisfaction is recovered to increase revenue generation and profitability. A vital strength of the research conducted by Sulaiman (2018) is that data were obtained from financial institutions and customers through 110 questionnaires provided to both customers and employees. The data collection method enabled the author to provide insights into how customer orientation improves the performance of financial institutions from the perspective of employees and customers. However, Sulaiman did not obtain data on how the performance of the banks had changed over the years concerning their CRM strategies. This factor limits the extent to which the study offers evidence of the direct relationship between CRM and the profitability of financial institutions.

Many studies examined the impact of CRM on the financial performance of financial institutions without investigating how the performance of those institutions changed because of the CRM strategies implemented. Kebede and Tegegne (2018) sought to determine the impact of CRM practices on the performance of commercial banks. The authors focused on commercial banks in Ethiopia and provided questionnaires to customers to respond to survey questions relating to CRM. Kebede and Tegegne examined the impact of CRM dimensions on banks' financial performance, including knowledge management, customer focus, IT-based CRM, and CRM organization. The authors established that all the CRM dimensions considered were statistically significant in shaping the performance of financial institutions. The authors further determined that knowledge management was the most critical dimension in shaping the performance of banks. Their findings reaffirmed what Bhat and Darzi (2016) stated concerning knowledge management as the essential CRM dimension. However, a limitation of Kebede and Tegegne's study is that they did not examine the direct impact of CRM on the performance of financial institutions. Instead, the authors made deductions based on the responses provided by the respondents who were bank customers. An investigation of how the performance of banks had changed because of the implementation of specific CRM strategies would have offered better insights into the connection between CRM and the performance of financial institutions.

A similar limitation is seen in the research method used by Lebdaoui and Chetioui (2020) to examine the relationship between CRM, service quality, and the performance of financial institutions. Lebdaoui and Chetioui used questionnaires to obtain responses from managers in 247 conventional and 141 Islamic banks in Morocco. The questionnaires were designed to examine how service quality mediates the impact of CRM practices on organizational performance. The authors established that service quality determined the extent to which CRM practices impacted the performance of financial institutions. Using CRM contributes to improved organizational performance through improved service quality. Senior bank managers can use CRM to deliver high-quality services and enhance organizational performance. A limitation of Lebdaoui and

Chetioui's study is that it does not show whether CRM practices lead to banks' improved financial performance. The authors assumed that since CRM practices enhance service quality and customer satisfaction, the firm's performance will automatically improve. However, Sulaiman (2018) determined that improving customer satisfaction has cost implications, meaning that no guarantee of improved service quality and customer satisfaction will lead to improved organizational performance.

Given that financial institutions are driven by the need to maximize profits, the performance that should be examined is financial performance. Using CRM should enhance the financial performance of financial institutions. Wongsansukcharoen et al. (2015) attempted to explain this relationship by examining how CRM impacts the performance of banks in B2B contexts. Data for their study were obtained through questionnaires distributed to managers and marketing officers in commercial bank branches in Bangkok, Thailand. The authors established that using CRM does not directly impact the performance of commercial banks. However, using CRM can improve the performance effectiveness of commercial banks through business strategies, such as focus and differentiation. Their findings indicated that bank leaders could use information obtained through CRM practices to develop business strategies that enhance the firm's performance in the marketplace.

There is still a significant knowledge gap concerning the relationship between CRM and the performance of financial institutions (Perez-Vega et al., 2022). While studies like Kebede and Tegegne (2018) explored how CRM can impact the performance of banks, there needs to be more information on what aspects of performance are being referred to. The knowledge gap is mainly caused by the research methods used to investigate the relationship between CRM practices and banks' implementation. Researchers may make deductions based on assumptions concerning the relationship between service quality, customer satisfaction, and business performance.

One assumption is that financial institutions will record improved profitability because of improved service quality and customer satisfaction; however, there is a need to consider the cost of enhancing customer satisfaction (Gao et al., 2019). No guarantee improved customer satisfaction will increase financial institutions' profits. Some studies reviewed showed the potential for financial institutions to improve their financial performance by implementing CRM strategies (P. Kumar & Mokha, 2021). A consistent theme in all the studies reviewed is that CRM plays a critical role in enabling financial institutions to identify the needs of their customers and meet those needs, a factor that underscores the importance of knowledge management as a CRM dimension.

### **CRM Implementation Strategies**

CRM practices determine the ability of CRM as a business strategy to improve the performance of financial institutions. Successful CRM implementation helps business senior managers critically analyze customer interactions and streamline and track leads. A company or business should develop CRM strategies that meet the customers' needs before investing in a new CRM program. Effective communication with customers helps successful CRM implementation. The company should critically identify the target consumers according to the existing corporate mission and business model (Khashab et al., 2022). CRM implementation strategies need contributions from the organization and its stakeholders.

## The Important Role of Employees

Employees play an integral role in ensuring the success of CRM strategies. According to Ghalenooie and Sarvestani (2016), implementing CRM strategies may lead to improved organizational performance because many organization leaders focus on the technology element of CRM and the role of employees in ensuring the success of CRM strategies. Ghalenooie and Sarvestani claimed that recognizing the importance of employees in CRM and developing strategies to enhance their participation in CRM can enhance the success of CRM strategies. The authors indicated that while technology is certainly a fundamental element of CRM, improved firm performance because of CRM is only possible with the involvement of employees. Focusing on CRM technology without considering the role of employees in enhancing customer satisfaction would limit the ability of CRM to result in improved firm performance. Ghalenooie and Sarvestani further noted that human factors in CRM in the financial sector are even more critical because of the need to provide high-quality services to customers. With employees dedicated to providing customers with high-quality services, using CRM would improve service quality and customer satisfaction in the financial sector. The partnership between the employees of financial institutions and customers is vital in managing customer relations (Aali et al., 2020). Employees, especially those dealing in sales, engage customers and sell bank products.

Yapanto et al. (2021) determined that how employees interact with customers and attend to the customers' needs shapes customer satisfaction. Employees should focus on creating good partnerships with customers to ensure that the needs and expectations of customers are identified and met. While banks use technology in CRM, employees still play an essential role in interacting and communicating with customers through CRM technologies. Gayathry (2016) agreed with Yapanto et al. that bank employees are crucial in successfully implementing CRM strategies.

According to Gayathry (2016), most bank customers prefer personalized relationships with their banks. Employees are vital in establishing personalized relationships because they can interact with customers and identify and address their unique needs. This argument implies that while CRM technologies can enable banks to create personalized relationships with their customers, customer satisfaction is only likely to be realized when employees engage customers and address their concerns. Technology is essential, but it is unlikely to provide the same personal engagement that employees would provide when engaging with customers. Financial institutions that recognize the critical role of employees in implementing CRM strategies are likely to develop appropriate CRM strategies that lead to improved organizational performance.

### **Organizational Culture for the Successful Implementation of CRM**

Organizational culture is also an essential aspect of CRM strategies. The corporate culture of a firm determines the ability of the firm to successfully implement CRM strategies and improve customer experiences in the long term. According to Pakurár et al. (2019), digitalization in the financial sector has been widely embraced to improve CRM and service quality. Many financial institution senior managers are digitalizing to better serve their customers in an industry characterized by stiff rivalry. However, digitalization is unlikely to result in improved service quality and customer experiences if employees do not collectively work toward supporting the realization of the CRM objectives of the organization.

Pakurár et al. (2019) noted that a collectivist organizational culture moderates the relationship between digital tools implemented to improve service quality and customer satisfaction realized through CRM strategies. The implication is that in an organization where employees collaborate and work towards the realization of organizational goals, CRM practices are likely to result in improved customer satisfaction and firm performance. The authors argued that digitalization strategies geared towards enhancing CRM and service quality should complement an appropriate organizational culture. R. Rahimi (2017) agreed with Pakurár et al. on the importance of corporate culture when implementing CRM by stating that having the proper organizational culture significantly contributes to the success of CRM strategies. R. Rahimi examined organizational culture's effect on implementing CRM strategies. Questionnaires were administered to managers, and the data obtained were subjected to simple linear regression and correlation analysis. R. Rahimi found that the success of CRM projects is predicted by effective cross-functional teams, a teamwork culture, involved and committed employees, support towards change, and information sharing within the organization.

The findings of R. Rahimi (2017) are like the claims made by Pakurár et al. (2019) concerning the importance of a collective culture in implementing CRM projects. A culture of teamwork is similar to a collaborative culture because employees work together in both organizational cultures to realize the firm's goals. A significant limitation is that R. Rahimi focused on the hotel sector instead of the financial sector. Still, both the hotel and economic sectors are service industries, indicating that the results can provide insights into the importance of organizational culture in implementing CRM projects in financial institutions. Obeidat et al. (2017) offered more insights into the relationship between corporate culture and CRM projects by examining job attitudes and innovation-mediating roles. Obeidat et al. obtained data from managers and experts through questionnaires. They determined that organizational culture could impact the success of CRM projects by influencing employees' attitudes toward their jobs and enhancing innovation. Obeidat et al.'s findings reemphasized employees' critical role in driving the success of CRM projects. Employees' positive attitudes toward their jobs strengthen the success of CRM projects. Organizational culture is at the center of the development of such positive attitudes.

Organizational culture helps ensure that an organization remains consistent in its customer engagement to address their needs and enhance customer satisfaction. According to Lubis et al. (2020), CRM involves the process, people, and technology, an indication that there is a need to create a culture that ensures that the services provided to customers are consistently high quality, given the involvement of employees in CRM. While technology is an integral part of the CRM process, employees still play a significant role in ensuring that the organization creates unique and personalized relationships with customers and that the needs and expectations of customers are met. Organizational culture shapes how employees participate in the CRM process and advance the CRM objectives of the organization. A limitation of Lubis et al.'s study was that it needs to identify specific types of organizational culture and how they impact the success of CRM projects. However, Jaas (2022) agreed with Lubis et al. on the impact of organizations on the success of CRM programs. According to Jaas, organization leaders in the contemporary business environment constantly implement new technologies to help them address customers' changing needs and expectations. The value orientation of employees, especially in managing customer relationships, determines the ability of organizations to respond effectively to business challenges and record success in the marketplace.

Organizational culture shapes the value orientation of employees. It helps ensure that they support the realization of CRM program goals and the firm's objectives in the marketplace. Jaas (2022) determined that implementing CRM programs is an essential organizational change. The success of such a change can be achieved when employees embrace and support the change. The value orientation of employees drives them to keep the application of modern technologies to improve CRM. At the same time, employee value orientation ensures they can work in a business environment where customer demands are constantly changing. As Bedarkar et al. (2016) noted, organizational culture enhances customer centricity, a key objective of CRM projects. A customer-centric corporate culture motivates an organization and its employees to engage in CRM, enables them to identify customer needs and expectations, and uses the knowledge gained to develop strategies to improve customer satisfaction and loyalty. The appropriate organizational culture will thus ensure that CRM practices are geared towards improving customer satisfaction through need identification.

The right organizational culture will help ensure that every organization member appreciates identifying and meeting customers' needs (Lamrhari et al., 2022). Two critical corporate cultures emerge in this regard: a collectivist organizational culture and a customer-centric organizational culture (Metz et al., 2020). A collectivist organizational culture can enhance the success of CRM projects by encouraging teamwork and helping ensure that every member of the organization is working towards the realization of the firm's goals (Metz et al., 2020). A customer-centric organizational culture ensures that employees work towards meeting the needs and expectations of clients, and CRM is likely to improve customer satisfaction and firm performance.

## **IT-Aided CRM Strategies**

IT-aided CRM strategies in the banking sector can be used to enhance the benefits of CRM in the industry and improve the performance of financial institutions. Social CRM is one of the key IT CRM strategies identified in the existing literature. According to Wongsansukcharoen et al. (2015), social CRM uses social media to manage customer relationships. Wongsansukcharoen et al. focused on commercial bank branches in Bangkok, Thailand. The authors collected primary data through surveys with bank branch managers and marketing officers. They established that social CRM indirectly influences the performance of banks through business strategies. By engaging customers on social media platforms, financial institution leaders can identify their needs and expectations, using the information to develop business strategies that improve the firm's performance. A significant strength of Wongsansukcharoen et al.'s study was that it obtained information from bank managers and marketing officers; these two groups are likely to know the use of social CRM to develop business strategies. The authors focused on social CRM, meaning they could not identify other IT-aided CRM strategies and only focused on the context of Bangkok, Thailand, meaning that the findings may not be relevant to developing and developed economies.

Al Mashahedi et al. (2021) offered more extensive insights into how social CRM can improve the performance of financial institutions compared to Wongsansukcharoen et al. (2015). According to Al Mashahedi et al., using social CRM can enhance the performance of banks by improving customer service. Social CRM can also help financial institutions engage with customers, identify new business opportunities they can exploit, and gain a competitive edge in the marketplace.

Wongsansukcharoen et al. (2015) and Al Mashahedi et al. (2021) agreed that business strategies mediate the relationship between CRM and the performance of financial institutions. Using social networking sites to engage customers offers financial institutions an opportunity to understand their customers better and develop business strategies that improve customer satisfaction and performance. Similarly, Al-Omoush et al. (2021) examined the drivers of social CRM focused on banking institutions in Jordan to analyze how banks use social CRM. Their research problem was investigated using questionnaires sent to top and middle-level managers. Their research findings showed that social CRM could obtain vital data for developing business strategies that increase the firm's competitive advantage. Social CRM can be used for customer retention and to acquire new customers. Their results indicated that social media could function as an essential platform for managing customer relationships and improving the performance of financial institutions. A limitation of Al-Omoush et al.'s study was that it used structured questionnaires that hindered the research from developing new insights and theories concerning how using IT can manage customer relationships. The authors failed to identify the challenges associated with social CRM because of the data collection method used.

A primary function of social CRM is enhanced customer engagement to collect important customer information that can be used to meet customer needs and identify new business opportunities. As Hendriyani and Raharja (2018) noted, using social media (SM) enables financial institutions to engage more with their customers and build relationships in digital banking. Hendriyani and Raharja used observation and a literature review to collect data on how banks in Indonesia use technology to manage customer relationships. The authors established that financial institutions in Indonesia use technology such as SM, emails, and websites to engage customers and identify their needs. The use of technology enables financial institutions to obtain important information concerning customer needs and preferences. Technology allows financial institution leaders to respond to customer issues faster and more efficiently. A limitation of Hendriyani and Raharja's study was that they did not examine the perspectives of bank managers to establish how e-CRM impacted the performance of the firms and only focused on the context of Indonesia, and thus the findings may not be relevant to other contexts.

Alamsyah and Indraswari (2017) and Hendriyani and Raharja (2018) agreed that the use of social CRM helps understand the needs and expectations of customers thus enhancing customer satisfaction and improving business performance. Alamsyah and Indraswari focused on the banking sector in Indonesia and collected data based on the communication between brands and their customers on SM platforms. The authors established that bank leaders strove to elicit positive sentiments among their customers on SM by addressing their issues promptly and satisfactorily. Alamsyah and Indraswari found that banks view SM platforms as a place for engaging their customers and improving their brand image. They did not examine banks; perspectives to understand how bank leaders develop social CRM strategies and the relationship between the strategy developed and business performance. They did not provide insights into how social CRM strategies impact business performance. Alamsyah and Indraswari showed that the buyer-seller information exchange is a crucial reason financial institutions implement IT-aided CRM strategies. Financial institutions mainly use SM platforms to engage their customers and collect important information that can be used to enhance customer satisfaction. Buyer-seller information exchange also enables banks to obtain information that can be used to develop business strategies and drive firm performance.

# **Business Problem**

This review of the literature provides an understanding of the importance of CRM for financial institutions. CRM strategies can be used to improve customer satisfaction and loyalty and improve business performance. This review indicated that CRM does not directly lead to improved business performance. However, dimensions of CRM can

mediate the relationship between CRM and business performance. There is limited literature concerning how financial institutions use IT-aided CRM strategies to improve their performance in the business environment. Owusu et al. (2015) examined how financial institutions use IT-aided CRM; few explore the relationship between specific CRM strategies and business performance. Most existing studies have not examined the perspectives of financial institutions to understand how they use technology in CRM to improve business performance and the benefits and challenges they encounter (Al-Bashayreh et al., 2022; Suoniemi et al., 2021). Most existing studies also focused on Asia, indicating a need to conduct similar studies in other geographies. Specifically, there needs to be more research on how Zimbabwean banks use IT-supported CRM strategies to improve their performance. The identified research problem informs the research question for this project.

# Transition

Section 2 included a review of the professional an academic literature and conceptual framework. Section 3 includes discussion on project ethics, nature of the project, population sampling and participants, data collection activities, interview questions, data organization and analysis techniques, and reliability and validity. Section 4 includes presentation of findings, implications for social change, recommendations for further research, and conclusions of the project.

# Section 3: Research Project Methodology

In the contemporary digital world, effective CRM strategies assist financial institution leaders in better managing their customers and comprehending their expectations and preferences (Gunawardane, 2022). CRM strategies should provide business leaders with ideal and profitable solutions (Miremadi & Ghanadiof, 2021). In this project, I explored the IT-aided CRM strategies senior bank managers use to improve customer retention and enhance bank performance in Zimbabwe. Section 3 provides the steps that were taken to conduct the study. I discuss the project's purpose, role of the researcher, ethical principles observed, research participants, data collection instruments, data collection and organization techniques, research method and design, data analysis techniques, reliability, and validity.

# **Project Ethics**

The role of a researcher is complex because it includes setting the appropriate atmosphere for the participant, mitigating bias, and understanding and interpreting participant responses; this role has to be performed without preconceived ideas (Collins & Stockton, 2022). As human society and business environments become progressively dynamic, well-administered qualitative research and the related processes are essential in gathering, interpreting, and analyzing data that offers meaningful elucidations of phenomena (Saldana, 2016).

I am employed by one of the banks in Zimbabwe as an account relationship manager and am directly affected by the nonautomated CRM strategies that are currently in place. *The Belmont Report* has three basic principles: respect for persons, which is treating others with respect; beneficence, which is acting for the benefit of others and preventing harm; and justice, which is ensuring fairness (Office for Human Research Protections, 2022). Zimbabwean banks have a code of conduct that supports the Belmont Report principles, and any deviance may lead to disciplinary action including dismissal. Therefore, I ensured that I treated all participants fairly, respectfully, and without harm.

Qualitative research has more ethical, reliability, validity, and generalizability issues compared to the other two research paradigms (Leung, 2015). Ethical concerns are significant in qualitative research because of the process's in-depth characteristics (Mohd Arifin, 2018). There are several ethical guidelines for conducting qualitative research; these ethical guidelines and principles guided my project.

The first ethical principle relates to ethical approval (Waheed et al., 2020). Researchers must submit their proposals to the institutional review board (IRB) before the data collection begins. My project proposal was forwarded to Walden University's IRB for approval to ensure that all professional and ethical standards, institutional policies, and required laws would be followed. The Walden IRB approval number was 07-09-24-1024374.

The second ethical principle encompasses voluntary participation and informed consent (Newman et al., 2021). Informed consent is an underlying code of conduct in qualitative research (Kang & Hwang, 2021). The participant should be fully informed of the project's purpose and the data collection process. Researchers using interviews for data collection must ensure respondents are well-versed regarding the study's nature (Kang & Hwang, 2021). In the current project, I followed the ethical principle of informed consent. I contacted the participants via telephone to inform them of the project's nature and assured them that the study results would be used only for academic purposes. I informed them they could withdraw at any point during the project. Then, the potential participants received an email reiterating the nature of the research and requesting them to confirm their consent if they were willing to participate. The participants were not offered compensation for participating in the project.

The third ethical principle is upholding privacy and confidentiality (Nayak, 2022). In qualitative studies, maintaining respondents' confidentiality while collecting and presenting detailed and exhaustive descriptions of their perspectives presents unique challenges. I protected the selected banking institutions and participants' privacy and confidentiality in this project. The participants were given numbers from P1 to P6 to ensure confidentiality. I ensured that the final manuscript did not contain names or recognizable information about the project's commercial banks and the individuals involved. I employed pseudonyms to mask the banks' identities and maintain confidentiality for the banking institutions. The data obtained will be stored for 5 years to safeguard the participants' rights. The interview recordings and informed consent forms will be held in a tamper-proof storage cabinet or a password-protected flash disk. Five years after the project's completion, I will permanently erase and destroy all transcribed data, interview recordings, and consent forms.

Beneficence refers to ethical behavior that supports acting in manners that benefit others while fostering welfare and safety (Mohd Arifin, 2018). In upholding beneficence, I protected all participants in the project from harmful outcomes that might disrupt them during their engagement in the project. To ensure that the ethical protection of participants was adequate, I clearly explained the procedure for withdrawing from the project by informing me via email of their request to withdraw. I explained the measures used to protect the companies' and participants' identities. I used pseudonyms for participants (P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, and P6) and banks (B1, B2, B3, B4, B5, and B6) to mask their identities and to ensure confidentiality for the participants and the banking institutions. The obtained data will be securely stored for 5 years to safeguard the participant's rights. After the project's completion, I will permanently erase and destroy all electronic and hard copy data.

# **Nature of the Project**

I employed a qualitative approach to explore IT-enhanced CRM strategies in Zimbabwean banks. Almohaimmeed (2019) indicated that a qualitative study could capture key informants' opinions and perspectives. According to Mohajan (2018), researchers use the qualitative method to comprehensively and holistically analyze events. Researchers are less constrained if they use qualitative methodology to explore new ideas that emerge during the data collection procedure (Alase, 2017). Given that I sought to investigate participants' perspectives on the research question, a qualitative approach was appropriate because it would provide detailed descriptions of a complex phenomenon and illuminate the views of individuals with varying levels of investment and involvement in a situation.

I used a pragmatic inquiry design for this project because I was interested in learning about and gaining insight into the interviewees' experiences. Strong and trustworthy evidence can often be obtained using a pragmatic inquiry design (Rashid et al., 2019). By employing a pragmatic inquiry design, I had access to a wide variety of evidence to conduct triangulation and corroboration, making it easier to identify areas of convergence and pursue them further. The pragmatic inquiry design was suitable for this investigation because it allowed for the collection of open-ended responses from participants, who could elaborate on their experiences and feelings regarding the research topic and share intimate details about their lives. Using the pragmatic inquiry design also allowed for the collection of data from multiple sources; collecting data from leaders of more than one organization provided multiple perspectives on the topic and richer data.

# **Population, Sampling, and Participants**

I employed purposive sampling to select six senior managers from six of the 19 Zimbabwean commercial banks. Using purposive sampling enables a researcher to exercise expert judgment to ensure representativeness on a definite dimension (Baltes & Ralph, 2022). The sampling technique allowed me to explore accessible, information-rich cases from Zimbabwean commercial banks. Palinkas et al. (2013) identified seven principles for choosing the ideal sampling strategy: an efficient schema, transferable conclusions, a feasible sampling plan, ethical sampling, capacity for inferences, sufficient data, and an alignment with a conceptual framework.

The current project's participant selection criteria were constrained to homogenous participants with experience in IT-aided CRM strategies and expertise in the Zimbabwean commercial banking sector. The sample selection relied on the participants' exposure to IT-aided CRM strategies or experience supervising CRM activities in a Zimbabwean commercial bank. The participants were required to have been directly engaged in at least one CRM strategy, reported its results, and witnessed its outcomes.

Dworkin (2012) identified the number of respondents needed to realize data saturation in qualitative research is five to 50 participants. The findings in Dworkin's study justified the selection of six respondents for the current project. Similarly, Gentles et al. (2015) endorsed the reliance on four to 10 cases because fewer than four cases may not sufficiently encapsulate the phenomenon, whereas more than 10 may be problematic to process. For the current project, recruitment of six participants allowed for a deep inquiry into the banks' IT-aided CRM strategies. I conducted the interviews face-to-face and via Zoom, depending on the participant's preference. If I had failed to reach data saturation after the preliminary interviews, I would have recruited more participants and continued gathering data until data saturation was realized.

In this project, I targeted senior bank managers of commercial banks in Zimbabwe. I purposively selected six senior bank managers to form the research sample. Purposive sampling, also called subjective, selective, or judgmental selection, entails a collection of sampling approaches that depend on the investigator's judgment in selecting the sample units to be examined (Sharma, 2017). Purposive sampling is better for matching the research sample to the research objectives and boosting the trustworthiness of the results (S. Campbell et al., 2020).

The current project participants' eligibility criteria comprised senior bank managers from Zimbabwean commercial banks who knew CRM strategies within their banks. Participants were also required to have been with the banks for at least 1 year to ensure adequate knowledge of their financial performance and CRM strategies. The project's participants included six senior managers with over 1 year of experience in a commercial bank in Zimbabwe using IT-aided CRM strategies.

Once a researcher gains access to participants, the researcher must foster a working relationship with the respondents (Lee et al., 2022). Rapport building is especially important when using semistructured interviews because qualitative interviews rely on the participants' communication of their beliefs, perceptions, attitudes, and personal experiences linked to the topic of interest (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). Dianiska et al. (2021) identified three effective rapport-building behaviors: self-verification, common ground, and self-disclosure. I focused on the abovementioned three strategies for building rapport with the participants in the current project. I offered the participants feedback that confirmed their self-concept, found similarities between myself and the participants, and revealed some information about myself to build rapport with the interviewees.

### **Data Collection Activities**

I was the primary data collection instrument in this project. Semistructured indepth interviews, in which the researcher and the subject have a conversation, are the most common type of qualitative data collection (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). The interviews in the current project were structured in an open-ended manner and augmented with probes, comments, and questions. I explored the experiences and opinions of the senior managers; therefore, this technique was appropriate.

I used an interview protocol during the interviews to reduce bias and ensure that I do not miss anything during the interview. Bias is primarily understood as influencing results in research (Galdas, 2017). As stressed by Hunter and Hillman (2019), an interview protocol helps boost nonverbal and verbal communication during interviews to enhance the quality of collected data while offering a positive interviewing experience for the respondents. The interview protocol (see Appendix A) specified the procedure followed in the data collection exercise. Using an interview protocol helps with being organized and ensures that all steps in the interview process are done consistently during all of the interviews (Jacob & Furgerson, 2015). Using an interview protocol helps with practicing for the discussion and helps collect helpful information (Brinkmann, 2023). I used an interview protocol to help me with systematic data collection, consistency between sessions, standardization of the interview process, clarity and focus on project objectives, adherence to ethical requirements, and ease of data processing. I audio recorded and transcribed the interviews and set aside 15 minutes for any further queries, clarifications, or discussions.

I conducted the interviews face-to-face and via Zoom videoconferencing, depending on the interviewee's preference. I did not have to go to the participants to conduct the interviews unless an interviewee requested a face-to-face interview. To protect participant confidentiality, I ensured that the interview was exclusively audio recorded. Furthermore, when conducting interviews, I conveyed this policy to participants to maintain the highest level of confidentiality and respect for their privacy. I used a backup audio recording device in case the primary recording device malfunctioned. I followed Whiting's (2008) five-step interview procedure comprising rapport building, apprehension phase, exploration, cooperation, and participation. McGrath et al. (2018) stated the significance of creating comfortable interactions and building rapport in advance and during the interview. Using a primary and backup audio recorder allowed me to ease the participants' apprehensiveness and reassure them that I would not misquote any of their responses. To maintain confidentiality, I crossreferenced each audio recording and matched it with the corresponding interviewee's pseudonym.

I did not use observations, focus groups, or experiments because I wanted the interviewees to be comfortable and their responses confidential. Focus groups would have removed the confidentiality goal, and responses may have been biased because the interviewees work in competing institutions. The participants may have been afraid of being judged. Although surveys are self-paced, the answers are limited, and the self-paced technique can be a disadvantage if time is of the essence. The sample selected in the current project was small, and the interview approach was not time-consuming; surveys usually work when the sample population is large. Using structured questionnaires and other standardized procedures for data collection can allow for a different degree of adaptability and open-ended exploration of experiences feasible with semistructured interviews (Dursun, 2023).

I used NVivo to document the interview audit trail. Besides documenting the research process, I maintained ample notes of participant contact methods and contact records. Each interview lasted approximately 35 minutes to fit the respondents'

schedules. In addition to transcribing audio recordings on my own, I also employed member checking to enhance the reliability and validity of my research. Member checking, also known as respondent validation, is a process in which the researcher shares their interpretations of the participants' responses to the interview questions with the participants and solicits their feedback to ensure that the researcher's interpretations accurately reflect their perspectives (Birt et al., 2016).

### **Interview Questions**

- 1. What key strategies do you use to strengthen customer relationships?
- 2. What are your key strategies for using IT-aided CRM in your operations?
- 3. How do you measure the effectiveness of your critical IT-aided CRM strategies?
- 4. What barriers have you encountered in implementing your critical IT-aided CRM strategies?
- 5. What key strategies have you used to overcome barriers to implementing your key IT-aided CRM strategies?
- 6. What other information can you share regarding your experience using ITaided CRM in your operations?

## **Data Organization and Analysis Techniques**

I used NVivo to collect data obtained from the audio recorders. Using NVivo provides an effective qualitative data reporting, querying, and managing tool (Trigueros-Cervantes et al., 2017). Firstly, I transcribed and imported the data into the NVivo software. As Ricard et al. (2022) suggested, open coding of the data followed the transcripts' importation. I read through the interview transcripts during open coding and note a general theme or succinct conceptual *code* to indicate the respondent's discussion. Besides coding, I also used NVivo in data comparison and assimilation processes. The project assimilated the obtained data into construct-themed codes. Similar phrases and words were then collated into nodes.

I stored the coded information and all the information from secondary and primary sources in a project file. As Walden University requires, hard and electronic copies of the obtained data will be kept in a protected location for at least 5 years. To ensure further confidentiality, the NVivo file will be password protected. After 5 years, I will permanently destroy the hardcopy and softcopy files containing the research data.

The data analysis process began with coding interview transcripts and looking for common categories, themes, and patterns per the research question. Data analysis denotes conducting specific evaluations and computations to extricate pertinent information from data (Ibrahim, 2012). I analyzed the gathered data methodically. Firstly, codes were applied to the respondents' open-ended answers to disclose themes and synthesize the data. I decided what the analytical unit would be. After that, I chose which themes to study based on the coding of the transcribed data and the handwritten notes. Following that, I analyzed the data using the themes. I organized the remarks into broad categories and more specific subgroups.

I employed Buchanan's (2013) data analysis process. This process entails data compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting meanings, and concluding. As Buchanan outlined, the data analysis process is a systematic approach to analyzing and interpreting data in a qualitative study. I followed Buchanan's strategy, which is divided into the following five steps:

- Data compiling: I gathered all the data from the interviews, including interview transcripts and audio recordings, and organize them logically and systematically.
- 2. Data disassembling: I broke down the data into smaller and more manageable chunks, such as individual sentences, phrases, and words. This allowed me to identify and extract meaningful information from the data.
- 3. Data reassembling: I reassembled the data by grouping similar information together and creating categories and themes. This allowed me to see patterns and connections in the data that may not have been immediately apparent.
- 4. Data interpreting meanings: I interpreted the meaning of the data by examining the relationships between the different themes and categories. I also considered the context in which the data was collected and the research question to understand the significance of the findings.
- 5. Data conclusion: I concluded the data and develop a comprehensive understanding of the research question. I also considered the implications of the findings and how they relate to the existing literature in the field.

Secondly, after transcribing the interview notes and loading them into NVivo, I employed the NVivo query function to draw emerging themes from the obtained nodes. The emerging themes consisted of contextual information relating to the research topic. Using NVivo aided in detecting emerging issues and common themes from the interview data. The process of using NVivo for data analysis can be broken down into several steps, which are as follows:

- Data import: Firstly, I imported the interview transcripts into NVivo by using the built-in import function. This allowed me to organize and store the data in a single location, making it easier to access and analyze.
- Data coding: Once the data are imported, I began coding the data by highlighting and labeling relevant text sections with descriptive codes. This allowed me to identify data patterns and themes and organize them into meaningful categories.
- 3. Data querying: After the data were coded, I used the NVivo query function to explore the coded data and extract meaningful insights. I used the query function to identify patterns and themes in the data, such as common words, phrases, or concepts. This allowed me to identify and extract relevant information specific to my research question.
- 4. Data visualizing: I used the visualizing functions of NVivo to create charts, graphs, and diagrams that helped me to understand the data better and identify patterns and connections. This allowed me to see the data differently, making it easier to identify key themes and insights.
- 5. Data interpreting: After identifying the themes and patterns in the data, I interpreted the data by exploring the relationships between the different themes and categories. I also considered the context in which the data was

collected and the research question to understand the significance of the findings.

# **Reliability and Validity**

# Reliability

Study reliability is often predicted by how research is conducted; that is, reliability is a measure of how often the results of a study can be repeated or replicated (Carroll, 2022). Therefore, mitigating research bias is a significant step toward achieving research reliability and validity. In this project, I implemented multiple measures to mitigate bias. First, I utilized purposive sampling to match the project sample to ensure I achieved the project's purpose and enhance the trustworthiness of the data and results. As documented by Creswell (2013), using semistructured interviews in qualitative studies provides sufficient and appropriate data to comprehensively explore a phenomenon under study in its natural setting.

I used semistructured interviews to collect senior bank managers' responses regarding IT-aided CRM strategies in Zimbabwean commercial banks to strengthen customer relationships, effectiveness, and related challenges. The analysis of project participants' responses provided reliable and valid results that may be transferable to other settings. I enhanced the dependability of the interview data through the memberchecking approach. The member-checking technique is vital in assessing the reliability and truthfulness of the research data and results (Creswell, 2013). Member checking is a qualitative technique that researchers use to allow participants to review my interpretations of their interview responses to enhance the accuracy of the data collected. I used methodological triangulation to enhance the reliability of interview data gathered during interview sessions. I collected data using two methods: interviews and reviews of publicly available documents. By utilizing interviews and document reviews, I triangulated data, cross-validated findings, and ensured a comprehensive understanding of the subject matter. This approach helped ensure that the interviews used to gather data in the project are reliable and collect data that addressed the research question. Triangulation is a strategy used to increase the validity and reliability of research data (Moon, 2019). Triangulation involves combining multiple methods or approaches to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the research topic (Dawadi et al., 2021). Methodological triangulation can include data collection methods (e.g., surveys, interviews, observations, etc.) and data analysis techniques (e.g., quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods; R. Campbell et al., 2020).

There are four types of triangulation: data triangulation, investigator triangulation, theory triangulation, and methodological triangulation (Donkoh, 2023). Methodological triangulation involves collecting data from multiple sources, such as interviews, surveys, and observations (Hodeib, 2021); this allows researchers to cross-check the validity of the data and look for patterns or discrepancies that may be present in the data. Methodological triangulation can help to reduce researcher bias and ensure that the data collected is reliable and valid (Johnson et al., 2020). I used methodological triangulation. **Validity** 

Validity refers to the extent to which instruments a researcher uses appropriately measure what they are designed to measure and perform all roles they are intended to accomplish (Ihantola & Kihn, 2011). The researcher can demonstrate the validity of the research through credibility, confirmability, data saturation, and transferability (Ihantola & Kihn, 2011; Yin, 2018). I thoroughly questioned and followed up until no new information was added to the existing data. I conducted member checking with each participant. After summarizing my interpretations of the participants' responses to the interview questions, I sent the summarized documents to the interviewees for confirmation of the accuracy of the captured interview.

The study's credibility refers to how well the study data echoes the respondents' responses and views and addresses the research question (Yin, 2018). Using appropriate data collection methods enhances research credibility as the data collection process is exceptionally consequential to the study's credibility (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I strengthened the credibility of the findings by using semistructured interviews as a data collection tool and by methodically analyzing the gathered data. Through member checking, I requested research participants review my interpretations of their responses to the interview questions to ascertain that my interpretations accurately represent their views and thoughts during the interview sessions.

Transferability is the degree to which qualitative study results can be transferred to other settings (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Fusch & Ness, 2015). According to recommendations by Creswell (2013), investigators need to provide adequate information on their research so that other scholars can determine the study result's transferability. To enhance transferability, I comprehensively analyzed the background information related to my findings, used multiple sources, acknowledged any assumptions and limitations in my project, compared my findings with previous research, explored alternative explanations, and proposed potential areas for future research. Confirmability is another measure of a study's validity. Confirmability refers to the degree to which the investigator can show the study findings as an accurate replication of the study participants' viewpoints and experiences (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I enhanced confirmability by allowing participants to review my interpretations of their interview responses using member checking.

Data saturation is employed to enhance the dependability of data by performing several interviews with participants until no novel data are produced (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I exhausted follow up questions and allowed the participants to answer the questions freely until no new data emerged. Data saturation ensures the comprehensive inclusion of all views and experiences during data analysis; at this point, further coding is no longer possible (S. Rahimi & Khatooni, 2024).

### **Transition and Summary**

Section 3 included a description of the project methodology, project ethics, nature of the project, population sampling and participants, data collection activities, interview questions, data organization and analysis techniques, and reliability and validity. Section 4 includes presentation of findings, implications for social change, recommendations for further research, reflections, and conclusions of the project.

## Section 4: Findings and Conclusions

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore IT-aided CRM strategies some senior bank managers use to improve customer retention and enhance bank performance in Zimbabwe. Section 4 includes a presentation of the findings, business contributions and recommendations for professional practice, implications for social change, and recommendations for further research. The following themes were identified: implementing customer relationship strategies, measuring effectiveness, and overcoming barriers.

#### **Presentation of the Findings**

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore IT-aided CRM strategies some senior bank managers use to improve customer retention and enhance bank performance in Zimbabwe. The research question of the project was the following: What IT-aided CRM strategies do senior bank managers use to improve customer retention and enhance bank performance in Zimbabwe? The data analyzed for study were obtained from qualitative interviews with six senior bank managers working for Zimbabwean banks. I also reviewed the company profile documents on their websites, which detailed the banks' policies and progress, to better understand and confirm the participants an invitation and consent form before the interview. The interviews lasted an average of 35 minutes. The data were analyzed using Braun and Clarke's (2006) thematic analysis method, which focuses on identifying, analyzing, and reporting patterns (themes) in the data (Byrne, 2021); the data were coded and analyzed using NVivo to

uncover these patterns. The thematic analysis process involved six stages: familiarization with the data, code formulation, theme generation, theme review, defining and naming themes, and report formation (see Braun & Clarke, 2006). To maintain confidentiality, I assigned participant codes (P1 to P6) and bank codes (B1 to B6). I conducted member checking by sending each participant a summary of my interpretations of their interview responses for verification. Member checking is vital in assessing the reliability and truthfulness of the research data and results (Creswell, 2013). Table 1 shows the themes and number of mentions in the interviews.

# Table 1

Themes

Major theme	Frequency
Implementing customer relationship strategies	68
Measuring effectiveness	25
Overcoming barriers	26

# **Theme 1: Implementing Customer Relationship Strategies**

The following subthemes were identified from the interviews: customer education, customer feedback, loyalty programs, personalized service, proactive communication, analytics, automation, data integration, and omnichannel integration. Customer education enables customers to make knowledgeable decisions. Constantly encouraging customer feedback is crucial for ongoing development, and loyalty programs, which offer rewards for returning customers, contribute to developing longlasting connections. Personalized service caters to each person's needs, thereby enhancing customer satisfaction and proactive communication. Automation increases productivity without sacrificing the human touch; while omnichannel integration allows uniform interactions across all customer touchpoints, cross-platform data integration helps to enhance and significantly improve a smooth experience (Lai et al., 2023). IT-aided CRM systems play a crucial role for banks by enabling efficient data integration, automation, analytics, and seamless omnichannel integration, all essential for enhancing customer relationship management and delivering personalized services (Rane et al., 2023). CRM technologies may empower bank leaders to understand better and respond to customer needs in real time, improving overall customer satisfaction and operational efficiency. Table 2 shows the subthemes, number of mentions, and number of participants who mentioned the subtheme.

# Table 2

Subtheme	Number of sources	Frequency
Customer education	1	1
Customer feedback	6	10
Loyalty programs	5	5
Personalized service	6	16
Proactive communication	5	6
Analytics	4	8
Automation	6	13
Data integration	5	5
Omnichannel integration	4	4

Theme 1: Implementing Customer Relationship Strategies

# **Customer Education**

Offering financial education services is another measure to strengthen client relations; these education programs primarily aim to inform customers about different or various financial goods and services they can access (Neacşu et al., 2023). Once the

necessary information is provided to the customers, the banks can boost the customer's general financial status and overall trust. P2 from bank B2 highlighted how the firm uses financial literacy as one of the strategic ways of approaching customers; these programs include personal finance, money saving, investing, and learning to handle and avoid financial troubles. The dissemination of educational materials gives B2's customers better financial knowledge and helps them make better operational financial decisions.

Customer education programs have a secondary function of providing the bank with a way of adding value to the customer's initial interactions, allowing the bank to demonstrate its knowledge of the financial sector. With detailed information and financial advice offered, it becomes possible to classify banks as financial advisors. P6 from bank B6 stated that through disseminating financial literacy, they had been positioned as a bank concerned for its clients.

Customer education programs promote customer empowerment (S. Mishra et al., 2021). Acquiring financial knowledge and products increases customer loyalty in dealing with a bank and conducting financial transactions; these steps result in changes that increase customer confidence in the service they receive, thereby increasing their satisfaction and loyalty. P4 acknowledged that customers who engage in their financial literacy sessions are more capable of efficiently using the bank's products and services.

The content delivery of the financial literacy programs can be face-to-face, online via webinars, or in the form of information brochures. Banks have adopted diverse formats to address a large number of people according to their ability to learn. For instance, bank B1 has provided online and offline-based information that customers can access anytime they wish to acquire it.

## **Customer Feedback**

Incorporation of customer feedback is a crucial approach that forms part of the CRM techniques used by banks. Primary data collection methods such as questionnaires, interviews, and group discussions, which involve direct contact with consumers, aid in the identification of the consumers' needs and wants. In this case, the feedback is designed to enhance specific services the banks offer and to manage any customer concerns.

P3 acknowledged the necessity of incorporating feedback in fine-tuning their services, stating that questionnaires are distributed among the customers to obtain their views on banking service delivery, product, and satisfaction. The outcomes of the operations from this feedback data are used to determine measures that require adjustment or execution to improve the consumer experience. Bank leaders use other types of data collection, such as reports containing information received through direct interactions. Bank employees, especially in their call center departments, should be ready to hear what customers say during the conversation. Real-time feedback is essential in ensuring that complications are dealt with as they build up and modifications are made to services (Negassa & Japee, 2023). P4 noted that in-branch personal interactions with customers have assisted them in quickly noticing services that need to be addressed by clients. Customer feedback is also helpful to a bank in formulating and creating new products and services. By knowing the needs and desires of the customer, banks can develop products that cater to the aspects that the customers consider essential; this creates customer satisfaction requirements, resulting in customer loyalty to the developed products. For example, bank B2 incorporates consumers' feedback in developing choicemaking programs about financial matters.

Using customer feedback in CRM strategies also entails setting up feedback mechanisms; this implies reporting to customers from time to time on the actions taken due to their feedback. In elaborating on their responses regarding the fourth interview question, P6 (a respondent from B6) noted that they alert clients on changes to services that are made in response to feedback. Focusing on the fact that each customer's opinion is considered necessary by the bank, it is possible to enhance the loyalty of consumers.

# Loyalty Programs

Reward programs are a sound management plan that can be used to incentivize clients to make more purchases. Reward programs may include promotional bonuses (i.e., giving the customers rebates or free cash, giving selected customers special offers that act as an incentive to frequent the bank). Clients will be loyal to the banks, and in the long run strong bonds will be formed between a customer and a specific bank.

P2 focused on improving customer relations by launching loyalty programs. Such programs are intended to offer extra services for the customers to give them a feeling that they are special guests of the company. For instance, B2 provides a lower interest rate on loans and a higher interest rate on deposits to its loyal customers to make them constantly seek its services.

Loyalty programs help generate crucial customer data and purchasing habits (Meyer-Waarden et al., 2023). The trends in the frequency of customers using loyalty programs allow banks to identify customers' preferences and spending behavior. Using these data, banks can personalize services and offers much better, thereby improving the customer experience. P4 explained that the data collected for the loyalty program assists in creating unique marketing strategies that appeal to the most loyal clients. Furthermore, loyalty programs can assist in building a loyal community among the buying public. For their loyalty program, B4 introduces events and privileges solely for their members, creating a unique feeling. Business-to-consumer loyalty programs create customer relations within a community and make the shoppers stick to a particular brand. P5 noted that the loyalty program members of B5 actively engage in financial education workshops and business networks, which are deemed to improve banking experience.

#### **Personalized Service**

Financial services providers in Zimbabwe have adopted the strategy of personal communication and customer solutions as critical components of customer relations. For example, P3 stated they "focus on understanding and anticipating customer needs through regular feedback mechanisms and surveys." Personalized service encompasses going beyond simply gathering opinions by assessing them in a way that delivers services tailored to the needs of different consumers. Once personalized service is done right, it

lets the customers feel valued, making the customer return for more service and products (Rane et al., 2023).

Personalized services are not limited to the provisions of customer relations services; they apply to all customer exchanges, including goods and services, channels of communication, and brand references (Pappas et al., 2023). Through data analysis, a bank can better understand its client base and, in turn, be able to meet its needs (Al-Dmour et al., 2021). For instance, through extensive data analysis, bank B5 has adopted lucrative analytics, which assists in the development of such products as well as services that would suit Zimbabwean customers. P5 asserted, "Our CRM system utilizes advanced analytics to identify patterns and trends in customer behavior, which helps us in making informed decisions and personalizing our services." Not only does this approach provide solutions to customers' requirements, but the solutions also fit future needs, adding value to the customers' experience.

Personal services help create the uniqueness of financial institutions within the marketplace rivalry (Davis-Adesegha, 2024). In the context of Zimbabwe, the era in which banking technology has the potential of rapidly evolving, personalized services are a sustaining strategy. The most effective institutions with personalization can brand themselves as institutions that respond to their consumers' needs, attracting more consumers to do business with them. P2 stated, "Company personnel have developed niche financial products and continual communication techniques, which has increased customer satisfaction."

Offering products and services also requires regular staff training and development of materials that must be delivered to the clients. P3 also emphasized human resource development to ensure that employees are provided with the required skills to meet customers' needs for personalized service delivery by banks. Training comprises education on how to use CRM systems, data skills, and interpersonal communication methods. Through training, banks may enhance service quality because they are provided by well-trained employees, which makes customers happy.

### **Proactive Communication**

Proactive communication is one of the best practices that help enhance customer communication flow, which aims primarily at customer satisfaction and emotional engagement (Negassa & Japee, 2023). Banks frequently send their customers emails, text messages, and updates on social networking sites and mobile applications. This strategy assists in informing the clients of new products available on the market, special offers, and changes in the services provided by the banks.

P3 stressed that proactive communication means more than informing the public; establishing two-way communication with customers is crucial. Proactive communication means that companies have to be willing to listen to what the customers are saying and ensure that they are always ready to respond to questions and complaints that the customers may have. Regular communication ensures trust and transparency between the business and the customer, forming the foundation of the business–customer relationship.

The second strategic activity is bolstering even-handed communication, which means the sender should communicate frequently and in different ways; this is important because it enables banks to segment their customers naturally. When sending messages that customers find interesting, the sender will go to the relevant section of the CRM system and send the messages there. For example, P2 takes data from the CRM system, selects customers interested in specific financial products, and offers them. The advantage of this approach is that it makes communication more pertinent and raises the chances of a favorable customer response.

Another proactive communication strategy is the utilization of automated communication instruments. Automated messages include timely notifications, reminders, and follow-up messages, which do not require bank interference. This way, customers are always in touch with the firm and updated frequently, thereby making them active and interested. For instance, bank B5 uses electronic notifications to notify customers of their transactions, appointment recalls, and feedback on their services.

The attractiveness and use of proactive communication will also depend on the coordination of communication technology. From P5's perspective, it is essential to establish homogeneity in communication, which implies giving customers equal information regardless of the channel they choose to opt for. P6 stated that the goodness that is advanced in omnichannel communication is that a consistent touchpoint is provided irrespective of the channel in which the analytics engage through online banking, mobile apps, or physical branches.

#### **Analytics**

Data analysis provides a basis for understanding the behavior of banks' customers (Abedin et al., 2023). Analytics help banks with pattern recognition and prevailing trends so bank leaders can plan accordingly and extend corresponding services. Banks such as B1 and B5 apply analytics to build more effective CRM approaches and increase client satisfaction.

Data analysis may be defined as analyzing vast amounts of data using statistical and computational methods. The use of analytics assists banks in recognizing customer behaviors and their specific interests and needs to comprehend how to organize their services. P1 stressed the significance of data analysis for CRM strategies. One of the benefits of customer analysis is that bank B1 can design its services based on the patterns of customers' behavior.

Predictive analytics is one of the most essential instruments for anticipating customers' needs and actions in banking (Olaniyi et al., 2023). By evaluating past activities, the banks can envision the actions customers will likely take in the future and, therefore, accommodate their needs (Singh et al., 2024). For instance, bank B5 leaders employ predictive analytics to show that bank customers are interested in given products and then advocate for the products. Predictive analytics makes it easy to understand the customers, increasing their loyalty.

Customer segmentation is another area that fits in the data analytics technique. Customer segmentation is a method by which companies categorize their customers, targeting each category differently, and this method is widely used in banks (Hossain et al., 2024). P2 explained that customer segmentation has enhanced the B2's efficiency, customer satisfaction, and loyalty. P2 also stated, "We use customer sentiment analysis to measure the clients' attitudes and satisfaction levels." Banks can determine the general public's perception of their services from customer feedback from surveys, social media, and customer care desks (Albarq, 2023). Using customer sentiment may assist in the identification of improvement opportunities and the enactment of changes that benefit customers. P4 from bank B4 also highlighted that sentiment analysis has helped the organization understand customers' perceptions, enhancing service delivery.

Real-time analysis is another element that bank leaders use as part of their CRM strategies (Nilashi et al., 2023). Data in real-time is used for customer relations, meaning that if there is a problem or something that can be capitalized on when interacting with customers, this is done immediately. For instance, bank B6 leaders apply real-time customer activity analysis to identify fraudulent or suspicious operations; this preventive measure enhances security and helps customers gain confidence.

#### Automation

The reliability of banking is an important aspect, and one of the key areas concerning banks is the automation of various activities (S. Kumar et al., 2023). Banks can engage customers automatically through follow-up emails, transaction alerts, and feedback through subsequently designed emails notifying customers of their transactions without involving the workforce; this makes the identification of work more accessible and more efficient and relieves staff to do other practical work.

Robotics entails the application of technology in completing activities that may or may not necessitate automation (Waidyasekara et al., 2020). Banks incorporate some elements of the communication process, such as data input and product transactions, through automation. P1 described apparent automation advantages in their CRM planning stating: "We utilize automation to streamline customer interactions and enhance response times." Since communicating with customers is an essential practice in bank B1, automation of the tasks can enhance timely and standardized communication.

Automated communication tools are most beneficial for scheduling and carrying out frequent information exchanges with the clientele. Banking automation issues alerts for transactions, appointments, promotions, and feedback; this means the clients get timely and relevant information, which helps cultivate trust and loyalty. P5 noted that they enhanced an automated communication system that has boosted their level of communication with customers.

The most important aspect of automation is reported to be data handling when considering communication (Coombs et al., 2020). Banks capture and manage their customers' information through a computerized system to minimize errors and improve accuracy. It is primarily a matter of the company's constant and detailed customer databases. P2 explained how the manual work in the organization had been reduced because of automation to manage its data, thereby ensuring the data quality was high and decision-making was enhanced.

P6 stated, "Automation leads to an increase in efficiency since automation tackles work that was initially done manually and enhances an organization's operations." In so doing, banks can save time and reduce the volume of work their employees must perform, thereby directing them to perform tasks of higher value; this increases efficiency and enables the staff to be a lot more helpful to the clients. P3 advised that managing customer relationships can benefit from automation since it can enhance the scalability of CRM strategies. With the growing size and gaining more clients' attention, ordinary businesses can provide more services and interact with more clients using an automated system, maintaining comparable results and adding personnel qualifications to the benefits list (Lemon & Verhoef, 2016).

#### **Data Integration**

The data from the multiple contact points help bank leaders map out the clients thoroughly (Rosário & Dias, 2023). Such an approach helps provide targeted services and predict the client's needs. B1 and B5 have incorporated higher-end CRM tools to collect and evaluate consumer data efficiently, which, in return, they utilize to deliver appropriate and timely service. P1 stated, "We also employ omnichannel communication strategies to ensure consistent and cohesive interactions across all platforms, including online, mobile, and in-branch services."

Data integration refers to compiling data from branch banking, online banking, mobile banking, telebanking, and customer interaction (V. Mishra & Singh, 2014). With a customer profile created, cross-selling will be much easier due to banks' improved knowledge of their customers. For instance, P1 revealed how data integration was critical in bank B1's CRM plans; thus, using different channels, B1 can effectively personalize a customer's experience by collating their interactions with the company.

Sophisticated technologies and solutions are important to data integration. CRM employed in banks is highly developed and contains features that allow for the response and collection of large amounts of data in real-time (Anshari et al., 2019). CRM systems are key for banks as they help identify customer patterns and trends and customize services. P5 from bank B5 mentioned that data integration has enhanced the understanding of the customer relationship management system in providing forecasts for needs. P5 stated, "Our CRM system utilizes advanced analytics to identify patterns and trends in customer behavior, which helps us in making informed decisions and personalizing our services."

Data integration also helps enhance institutions' ability to make effective decisions. This results in an improved flow of information about customers and thus allows the bank manager to make sound decisions in deciding what products to provide, how to market these products, and how to serve the customers. For instance, through integrated data, bank B2 leaders apply marketing strategies more relevant to the targeted customer groups. B2 leaders utilize marketing procedures and familiarize customers with the products and services.

Integrating data helps point out problems that may arise before they occur (Tyagi, 2023). By integrating data, bank leaders can identify customer dissatisfaction levels and prevent them from escalating. P4 from bank B4 revealed that through the integrated CRM, the bank could monitor the customers' complaints and feedback in real-time, hence dealing with all the issues on time and enhancing customer satisfaction.

#### **Omnichannel Integration**

Omnichannel integration ensures effective interaction on each channel to present a unified image of the company to consumers (Katembo, 2024). The multichannel CRM models are used by banks to give a united service approach, whether it is carried out on the internet, on mobile devices, or in branch offices. Such integration benefits the customers as it increases their comfort and convenience. Omnichannel integration means utilizing various communication and service channels to ensure a client receives a single and smooth experience when interacting with their bank. This strategy, which bank leaders established, aimed at making the customers have continuity no matter the channel used. P1 highlighted that B1's CRM strategy incorporated multichannel operations. With the integration of communication and service channels, bank B1 can have a central channel for providing service to its customers and thus increase their satisfaction.

Omnichannel integration uses connections crosswise over the web and physical retail stages. Banks rely on CRM systems to help check whether they make a consistent appearance to the customers, especially when addressing them through online banking, mobile apps, or when the customers walk into a banking hall; this means customers can begin a transaction through one channel and then complete it through another. P5 explained how integrating multiple channels has benefited the bank because of the flexibility accompanying it to improve the total customer experience.

Messaging and branding for proper integration across the omnichannel are other components that must be in sync. Bank leaders ensure their message is consistent regardless of the media used to convey it; this contributes to establishing brand awareness and credibility among the customers. P2 stated that "our omnichannel policy ensures that the messages we disseminate in emails, on social media, mobile applications, and through branch staff are cohesive."

Another aspect that defines integration on an omnichannel level is the utilization of customer data across those channels. Such systems permit the integration with CRM systems to provide all the departments and touchpoints that deal with the customers with up-to-date customer information. By integrating a CRM system, P6 from bank B6 expressed that using information about customers' profiles and histories of transactions directly was valuable in providing a high-quality service encounter. Using omnichannel integration helps reinforce the customer's choice of communication and service touchpoints. P4 stated that "using multiple touchpoints has enhanced customer acceptance and loyalty."

Particular attention should be paid to the regular assessment of omnichannel efforts and ongoing development as key aspects allowing for consistently high service levels. Similarly, banks' responses allow them to check its outcome and make required changes to omnichannel advertising strategies. Another insight from the findings is when P3 described how they needed to set up a schedule to revisit the indicators for omnichannel performance to ensure the bank's customers would be provided with the same service quality across each channel.

### **Connecting Theme 1 to the Conceptual Framework**

The functionalism theory is evident in implementing customer relationship strategies because it explains how all the parts of customer relationship management in the banking system, such as customers' education, feedback, and loyalty programs, integrate to form a whole (Sanjuq, 2014). This interconnectedness is congruent with Durkheim's (1893) claim that society works best as separate and well-connected bodies.

### **Connecting Theme 1 to the Existing Literature**

All specified strategies, especially the personalized approach, proactive communication, and automation, align with modern studies on IT-enabled CRM in banking. According to Masa'deh et al. (2021), all the above-mentioned subthemes play a vital role in the quest to improve the delivery of services to enhance customer satisfaction while at the same time improving operations in the current banking structures. Choudhary et al. (2023) explained the need to educate customers about the importance of trust and long-term relations in banking services. Customers with a high level of knowledge are likely to be loyal to the banks or institutions they work with (Masa'deh et al., 2021). D. T. Nguyen et al. (2020) also established that customer loyalty programs play a significant role in the retention of customers and increased patronage share in the financial services business.

#### **Theme 2: Measuring Effectiveness**

Evaluating the outcomes of IT-supported CRM solutions is essential for banks to determine the efficacy of the measures to optimize customer relations (Ke & Wel, 2024). Based on the interviews with all the participants, banks in Zimbabwe employ several quantitative and qualitative approaches to evaluate the effects of CRM implementation. The following subthemes were identified: customer retention rates, customer satisfaction and net promoter scores and response and resolution score. Most participants also indicated the following formulas for measuring performance and satisfaction: customer satisfaction index (CSI), customer loyalty index (CLI), and customer response and subsequent response (CR2), among other indicators. Table 3 shows the subthemes,

number of mentions, and number of participants who mentioned the subtheme.

## Table 3

## Theme 2: Measuring Effectiveness

Subtheme	Number of sources	Frequency
Customer retention rates	6	6
Customer satisfaction scores	6	6
Net promoter scores	6	6
Response and resolution scores	6	7

## **Customer Retention Rates**

Customer retention rates must be evaluated to see how CRM strategies affect the business in the long run; thus, high retention rates mean customers are satisfied with the bank's services and want to remain with the bank. One of the measures that P3 discussed as an effective tool was the customer retention rate. Determined from the figures of retention rates, the bank leaders will be able to learn about the impact of relinquished initiatives on the preservation of customers. A high retention rate indicates that strategies such as personalization of services, communication, and management of loyalty programs are effective in the bank.

Another aspect of the bank's financial health that can be deduced from the customer retention rates is the proportion of the original customer base. Customers who have once bought a particular product from a bank are usually easier to sell to than those who are not currently bank customers. P2 from bank B2 expounded that high retention rates remain very useful for the bank as it receives constant referrals and income from its

customers in revenue; this illustrates how banks can work for the long-term growth of their business and incumbent customer relationships by addressing retention goals.

A part of retention rate management includes examining customers' data to establish the timespan within the customer base, as well as the patterns of defection. The data help bank leaders employ various techniques of retaining customers with the help of special offers and loyalty programs. P4 noted that retention analysis has assisted them in developing powerful retention campaigns that help minimize customer attrition.

### **Customer Satisfaction Scores and Net Promoter Scores**

Customer satisfaction scores (CSAT) and net promoted scores (NPS) are two primary measures banks utilize to understand customer satisfaction and loyalty. CSAT relates to the extent of satisfaction that the customers of a bank have with the services offered, typically via questionnaires or surveys. On the other hand, NPS relates to the possibility of customers referring other people to use the bank's services, thus providing an understanding of customer loyalty and satisfaction.

P1 noted that they use surveys to obtain customers' feedback regarding their operations. Such surveys are important because they enable the bank to realize customers' impressions and discover existing issues. Data from such surveys are then quantified and used to determine the CSAT, giving a numerical customer satisfaction figure.

Another even more common indicator used in banking is NPS. P2 stated that "it is possible to use NPS to gauge the level of loyalty from the customer's side and any changes in that aspect." Through the likelihood scale of recommendation, ranging from

0-10, bank B2 could determine the three customer categories: promotes, passives, and detractors. This kind of knowledge is crucial for the bank to realize the mood of its clients and the possible actions to be taken to increase customer loyalty.

According to P3, scheduling CSAT and NPS surveys provides insight into the efficiencies of the current CRM strategies and plans for formulation. P3 emphasized, "Regular audits and feedback loops help us refine our strategies continually." For instance, if the NPS score drops, the bank leaders can look into the cause of the deteriorated customer satisfaction levels and promote actions. Knowing the NPS also assists organizations in achieving high levels of customer satisfaction, hence retaining customers' loyalty.

### **Response and Resolution Times**

The amount of time used in attending to customers and the duration used in solving customers' problems can be deemed essential measures of an organization's ability to address customers' problems (Ogundipe et al., 2024). These metrics specify the resolution time, in days, hours, and minutes, of customers' inquiries and complaints and provide efficiency measures for the CRM processes for the components. P1 further stated, "Response and resolution times should be well-monitored to offer excellent and fast customer service." Thus, the defined metrics will enable the bank to determine when the response rates were low, and consequently, the correct course of action can be started. If the response and resolution times are brief, clients' satisfaction may increase; therefore, the prevailing actual customer experience levels may increase.

P5 mentioned that another sphere where CRM systems are used for management is real-time customers' activity and their interactions with the banks. The automated systems also serve as tools for tracking the time taken to address customer inquiries and solve their complaints. P5 stated that "our CRM system contains actual time data on the response and resolution time and, therefore, assists in measuring and amending the same, thus enhancing effectiveness."

P4 proposed that frequent audits would help the banks improve customer service because whenever bank leaders check for delays, the leaders could identify and eradicate the delays. Audits are used to improve the response and the corrective feedback loops to improve the resolution methods. B4 leaders hold formal or informal meetings at least quarterly, during which the customer service function is reviewed for blocks needing change. P6 mentioned that the audit department reinforces response reaction and solving strategy by learning the customer's experience and delivering a proper and satisfactory solution in the least time possible. P6 stated, "We track the efficiency of our CRM processes by monitoring response times, resolution times, and the overall productivity of our customer service teams."

By incorporating the above metrics, bank leaders can systematically evaluate the effectiveness of CRM strategies supported by their IT systems. These metrics provide critical insights into key areas such as client satisfaction, customer loyalty, and quality-of-service delivery. These data enable bank leaders to identify areas for improvement and adjust their CRM strategies, helping ensure that the bank's approach is aligned with customer needs and market demands. Evaluating and analyzing the CRM strategies may

lead to more informed decision-making, better customer experiences, and the implementation of targeted initiatives to enhance client relations and overall business performance.

## **Connecting Theme 2 to the Conceptual Framework**

How CRM success is measured speaks of the social control theory about preserving order (Choudhary et al., 2023). Measures such as customer satisfaction and retention ratios are measures of the extent of a strong banking interface relationship, and Hirschi (1969) referred to them as social bonds. These measures highlight the importance of trust and connection in keeping customer loyalty and stability in bank relationships.

## **Connecting Theme 2 to the Existing Literature**

The quantitative and qualitative methods of assessing CRM implementation conform to the current trends in research. This study aligns with the results of (Fernando et al., 2023), who underscored that existing research on CRM in the banking context focuses on identifying evaluation methodologies that can effectively assess the CRM strategies' suitability. The specific measures of the CSI and the CLI, also found by D. T. Nguyen et al. (2020), indicated that such indexes are influential in determining the future value of customers in the retail banking business. The use of NPS for evaluation is supported by Yapanto et al. (2021), who showed the relationship between this approach and business expansion in the service sector, including banking.

#### **Theme 3: Overcoming Barriers**

Banks face several barriers and challenges when the bank leaders implement ITaided CRM. The challenges incurred include technological integration issues, data privacy concerns, resistance to change, and cost constraints, which are common barriers banks face. Bank leaders, however, also employ several strategies to overcome the barriers to implementing IT-aided CRM strategies. The following subthemes were identified for overcoming barriers: phased implementation, comprehensive training programs, robust data governance, and stakeholder engagement. Table 4 shows the subthemes, number of mentions, and number of participants who mentioned the subtheme.

### Table 4

Theme	3:	Overcoming	<b>Barriers</b>
1	•••	0,0,00,00,00	2000.000.0

Subtheme	Number of sources	Frequency
Comprehensive training programs	5	5
Phased implementation	6	8
Robust data governance	6	6
Stakeholder engagement	6	7

## **Barriers Encountered in Banks**

**Technological Integration Issues**. Implementing new CRM technologies is often accompanied by complex and challenging processes, mainly when dealing with legacy systems (Ledro et al., 2023). Legacy systems, which may have existed for many years, may lack compatibility with modern CRM technologies, making the integration process one of the significant hurdles. Integration is crucial for the overall success of the CRM implementation because it ensures that customer data flows seamlessly across different platforms, systems, and departments (Ferreira et al., 2023). Without proper integration, banks risk data silos, miscommunication between departments, and incomplete customer

profiles, which can undermine the effectiveness of CRM initiatives (Tseng, 2016). A poorly integrated system can lead to operational inefficiencies, reduced employee productivity, and negative customer experiences, diminishing the expected benefits of the new CRM technology (Suoniemi et al., 2021). Therefore, overcoming integration challenges is critical to achieving a smooth and successful CRM implementation that delivers enhanced customer service and operational performance.

One of the challenges was described by P3, who stated, "Implementing the new CRM systems required integration with their existing IT infrastructure." P3 also stated, "One of the significant barriers we've encountered is the integration of new CRM technologies with our existing legacy systems." Sometimes, legacy systems can be incompatible with the current CRM technologies; this results in data compartmentalization and customer details disparities.

Bank leaders face challenges, and the leaders are required to invest in integrated tools and technologies. Integrated tools aid in coordinating data from multiple sources and guarantee client information is available throughout communication. P2 expressed the need to integrate the contemporary CRM solution with other banking systems in their organization, including the core and payment systems.

Another aspect due to the complexity of the integration process is the interdisciplinary nature of the task and the interaction of different departments of the bank. A concerted effort is required from the IT, operations, and customer service departments to succeed in IT-aided CRM. P4 explained, "Communications across the various functions in the bank have been critical in managing integration issues and complementing the CRM system's implementation."

**Data Privacy Concerns**. Maintaining the security and privacy of the customers' data is always a significant issue for banks (Oyewole et al., 2024). P3 mentioned that bank leaders should provide high levels of security to their customers' data and pointed out that data privacy issues play a central role in the company's ineffective CRM execution. Neglecting regulations attracts severe penalties and worsens the bank's image.

P6 stated, "Banks must incorporate modern security measures to protect consumer information." Modern security measures govern the access, handling, use, storage, and sharing of information through encryption, multifactor authentication, and intrusion detection systems. B6 has sound measures to protect its CRM system and customers' information.

P5 advised that besides technological approaches, developing data governance policies in banks is essential to maintaining data privacy. Governance policies describe how data should be processed, leased, controlled, and shared. P5 also stated that they have adequate policies in data governance that continue to support data integrity and compliance with set regulations.

**Resistance to Change**. One of the significant challenges organizations face when implementing change management initiatives is embracing new technologies and approaches (Haber & Carmeli, 2023). People resist change, and staff and customers may resist change, hence the need for extensive training and change management. In detail, P1 focused on the issues attached to managing resistance to change from the staff. Banks may not smoothly switch towards the new CRM technologies because the employees may need to be more familiar with such tools, which may lead to an augmented workload. Any resistance can be a strike and hinder the implementation of CRM strategies.

P2 stated that hosting more training sessions and workshops has been instrumental in minimizing the staff-related issues of resistance to change. As such, the primary solution that bank leaders require is practical training, which should prepare the employees to handle operations on the new CRM system. Regarding resistance, change management programs are also central to the above processes. Such programs include information sharing, education, and assistance to facilitate the change process to the new system within the organization's employees. P4 claimed that for the subactivities to be effective, the employees must be engaged in the planning and implementing subactivities to embrace the new changes.

P6 described strategies to overcome customer resistance, including frequent customer education programs to prepare them for change. Lack of awareness in the customer base is an issue that needs to be rectified by the management of banks to ensure that the customer understands the significance of the new system and the support required for the transition to the new CRM system. P6 also stated, "Encouraging staff to adopt new technologies and processes can be challenging."

**Cost Constraints**. Implementing advanced CRM systems may be expensive initially, which may work against some banks (Duc et al., 2023). Such costs must be well controlled while facilitating the execution of the CRM strategies and plans. P2 mentioned

the financial difficulties faced in implementing IT-aided CRM in B2; the costs involved included the cost of purchasing licenses for the system, integrating the system into the business environment, and other operating costs. To control some of the costs, P3 advised that the primary factor is that the system installation should be performed in phases. P1 mentioned that they have employed phased implementation in equal measure to control costs and their effects; thus, dividing the implementation of the CRM system into stages will not only help the bank distribute resources effectively and improve the implementation process, but a phased implementation also helps reduce total implementation cost.

P4 stated, "There is also the problem of strategic investment priorities within banks, where the selection depends on the goals of the bank, the clients, and the rest of the stakeholders." Determining priorities includes comparing the ROI of various CRMrelated strategies and adopting the most effective ones. P4 also highlighted that their process of selecting investments focuses efforts on suitable and relevant areas, resulting in improved returns.

Cost control mechanisms also force banks to look for other sources of funds. The following remedies can be tendered to aid bank leaders in managing the financial implications of CRM implementation: technology vendors, government programs, and financial resources. P6 highlighted that the bank relied on partnerships to get access to high-end CRM technologies at a lower cost. When these barriers are overcome, IT-aided CRM strategies can be effectively implemented by banks, thus improving CRM. These include older technology systems, outdated staff training, data management protection

policies, and strategic investment planning, which are possible solutions to the challenges in attaining the objectives outlined.

### **Phased Implementation**

Implementing new systems gradually helps control the integration issue and its effect on an organization. This way, the problems can be solved step by step, and the strategies applied in practice can be slightly adapted. When asked about the nature of the implementation process, P1 asserted that a gradual approach to change has been vital in avoiding many integration problems. P1 stated, "To overcome some barriers, we have adopted a phased implementation approach to ensure smooth integration and minimal disruption." This way, depending on the situation in the bank, the CRM system implementation will be carried out step-by-step, addressing specific challenges that may arise in each stage. Such an approach lowers the probability of extensive disruption of the daily work and enables constant enhancement.

Implementing a process in phases can also be effective since leaders can get user feedback and adjust some elements if necessary. P2 noted that they adapted feedback from the previous phases to enhance the CRM strategies and the general implementation process. This approach proves viable in obtaining closer coincidence between the final system and the users' needs and expectations.

Phased implementation aids in controlling costs appropriately since projects' successful rollouts are based on a series of stages. The investment can be divided between the phases, and this approach allows bank leaders to distribute the expenses for CRM implementation more effectively. P4 elaborated on the value of phased implementation as an effective strategy for selecting priorities and improving the indicators of the organization's overall performance.

## **Comprehensive Training Programs**

In the case of resistance to change, P1 made a point that adequate training has to be put in place to address the resistance challenge. Training helps ensure that by the time the bank adopts the new CRM system, the employees can use it by conducting regular training sessions and workshops. Training also assists in building confidence amongst employees. Bank leaders also repeatedly support their staff to ensure they can work with the resources provided, including help desks, web-based self-help tools, and coaches or trainers' one-on-one teachings. For instance, P2 was adamant that consistent support has been essential in enabling the staff to cope with the change and resolve any possible problems.

According to P5, customer relations training is another area in which bank leaders invest much effort. Organization leaders ensure that the employees receive training to learn how to employ the CRM system to improve customer relationships and offer them services. P5 also noted that through the training of the employees, the quality of the customer service has been enhanced and, in the process, customer satisfaction has increased. P4 spoke on employee buy-in and noted the need to engage employees during the planning and implementation phase so that they may be compelled to support the organization's newly introduced change initiatives. P6 mentioned, "Change management is facilitated through extensive training programs, workshops, and continuous support to help employees adapt to new systems."

## **Robust Data Governance**

Global businesses must have strong data governance policies that consider the importance of effective data management and increasing privacy acts. Bank leaders must ensure that they enhance the security of the customers' information to avoid being hacked, thus losing customer trust (Pool et al., 2024). P1 described the excellent practices of data governance in their CRM strategy. Sound policies are put in place to protect customer data and avoid violating the laws of the land. It includes defining practices used in collecting, storing, retrieving, and using the data and considering ways to protect it.

The invention of new, improved technologies to combat cyber threats has been incorporated by most banks in the purchase of new technologies in a bid to secure customer data (Maphosa, 2024). Safety measures include encryption, user multifactor authentication, and an intrusion detection system to prevent intrusions. P6 mentioned that at B6, cybersecurity protection processes have been essential for the security of the CRM system and customer information.

The various steps in data governance include testing, validating, archiving, auditing, and monitoring for compliance with data protection laws (Hikmawati et al., 2021). These steps are conducted occasionally to assess the nature of data that banks handle and to ensure that any lapses or loopholes in the procedure are also checked and corrected. P5 explained that they have had more frequent audits to achieve integrity in data and meet the set regulations. Besides relying on technology, B5 has developed a data security culture. Some measures include ensuring that the employees who handle customer data undergo relevant training to understand the company's policies and guidelines on data protection. P4 emphasized ensuring that the bank employees understand some of the principles they are expected to uphold regarding data protection and the confidence clients place in the bank.

## Stakeholder Engagement

P2 talked about the various stakeholder engagements in implementing B2's CRM system. Stakeholder engagement assists in creating awareness and getting the support of stakeholders on the new change initiatives. P4 mentioned, "Involving all stakeholders early in the process to gain their buy-in and support is key." The involvement of employees is one of the critical strategies that could help to deal with the issue of resistance to change. P5 stated that "engaging the employees in the planning and implementation phases has enabled B5 leaders to solve issues and manage perceptions towards the new CRM system."

Customer engagement is also important for the success of any implemented CRM strategies. Banks need to deliver messages about the new system to customers and help with adoption. P6 explained that customers' resistance had been eased by customer education programs so that there was a seamless embrace of the new system; this means there should be interaction with partners and vendors to complete the implementation of CRM technology. P4 noted that integration has been one of the significant obstacles and that partnership with technology partners has been crucial in resolving the integration issue.

The abovementioned strategies are essential for helping bank leaders overcome challenges in implementing IT-aided CRM systems and achieve the desired benefits. A

phased approach allows for gradual system rollouts, enabling smoother transitions and minimizing disruptions. Comprehensive employee training helps ensure staff can use the new system effectively, increasing adoption and productivity. Data privacy and security are key in protecting sensitive customer information and maintaining trust. Additionally, engaging key stakeholders throughout the process fosters collaboration, helps ensure integrated feedback, and supports the system's success. Together, these strategies enhance customer retention and improve overall bank performance.

#### **Connecting Theme 3 to the Conceptual Framework**

The strategies used to solve the challenges related to implementing IT-aided CRM are aimed at fitting into the organizational paradigm (Fernando et al., 2023). According to Choudhary et al. (2023), modern societies and organizations should popularize the functionalism phenomenon referencing efforts made by banks to respond to the challenges in phases and through comprehensive training.

#### **Connecting Theme 3 to the Existing Literature**

Various studies on CRM implementation in the banking sector cite challenges, such as technology integration and data privacy issues mentioned in the survey (Figuigui & Machrouh, 2020). The measures for addressing these threats, especially the commitment to stakeholders and sound data management, correspond to the recommendations given in recent literature on the successful implementation of ITenabled CRM in financial organizations (Yapanto et al., 2021). Yapanto et al. (2021) noted that phased implementation is essential to avoiding resistance to change and improving transitions in large-scale bank projects. Yapanto et al.'s survey of 50 financial institutions revealed that the organizations using a phased strategy enjoyed a success rate of at least 30% better than their counterparts in implementing CRM.

The practice of developing extended training initiatives is also endorsed by Choudhary et al. (2023). For instance, banks that engaged in frequently targeted CRM training with the workers experienced 25% higher distinct adoption of the system and received a favorable 15% rating for customer satisfaction. The emphasis on sound data management aligns with the results of Figuigui and Machrouh (2020), which indicate the growing role of data security and confidentiality as the key drivers of customer trust in online banking. Figuigui and Machrouh showed that the companies with efficient data governance policies had fewer security incidents and better customer loyalty.

### **Business Contributions and Recommendations for Professional Practice**

The findings from this study may be helpful for bank leaders, central banks, and bank employees who need to improve customer relations via IT-supported CRM. By leveraging technology effectively, these stakeholders can enhance personalized customer interactions and streamline banking processes. The following recommendations are based on the analysis of interview responses:

#### **Invest in Data Integration Tools and IT-Aided CRM**

Bank leaders should embrace new innovative means of accumulating and integrating data to make a consolidated collection of clients' interactions. This will help the leaders to increase product customization and improve the relevance of services being availed. Combining information from different sources is one of the main ways by which data integration tools assist in building an overall picture of the customer (Masmoudi et al., 2024). P1 reiterated the significance of data amalgamation as a crucial aspect of CRM. Using new and improved data integration tools has enabled B1 to deliver individualized service to clients.

Data integration tools also improve the effectiveness and credibility of client data. The information is centralized through data integration and forms the bank's single view, improving decision-making and service delivery (Niu et al., 2021). P5 described how data integration tools augment customer data quality and help provide better services. In addition, data integration tools enhance the entire decision-making process since they produce timely information on clients' reflections. Such key findings will be helpful for banks in launching relevant marketing strategies and campaigns as well as detecting potential problems that can be solved in advance to improve the customer satisfaction level. P2 explained that through integration tools, B2 leaders developed a better CRM system that enhanced the decision-making processes by providing relevant data.

#### **Implement Comprehensive Training Programs**

Every staff member should be comfortable using new technologies, so training and development initiatives should be implemented periodically; technical skills, as well as customer service skills, should be enhanced (Zirar et al., 2023). Training programs help ensure employees acquire adequate skills and knowledge to integrate into the new CRM system. B1 leaders incorporated training as a critical way of managing resistance to change and improving the effectiveness of CRM strategies. Voting meetings and seminars offer a platform to build confidence and provide moral support for employees adopting new technologies. Other training that should be conducted includes customer service training. End-users, in this case, are the employees, and they require instructions on how to use the CRM system to improve customer relations and presentation of appropriate services. P5 noted that through the adoption of training in customer service, the quality of the interactions had been enhanced.

There is also a need to maintain the training programs for the programs to be effective in the bank. The bank leaders should provide help desks, online tutorials, and one-on-one coaching sessions for the employees to enhance their performance (Bitrián et al., 2024). P2 highlighted that ongoing support has been provided to assist B2 staff in adapting to changes and addressing any challenges that arise.

## **Adopt Phased Implementation Strategies**

The primary approach of the phased implementation is that the CRM system is implemented not at once but step by step. Phased implementation lowers the potential for disruption of primary business operations and processes and can be refined gradually (Rana & Ji, 2023). P1 noted that strategy implementation has been done in phases to avoid upsetting the innovative balance. Since users' opinions may be different in the early stages, it makes it easier for banks to address the issues that led to the deviations. P2 noted that they had a feedback system to enhance the outcomes of the CRM during the later phases after having to adjust the earlier strategies that were applied.

The other reason the implementation should be done in phases is that it assists in successfully controlling costs. P2 stated, "Carefully planning and budgeting for CRM projects ensures financial sustainability." Over time, it becomes easy for the investment to pay off and help banks free available funds to use them to implement CRM in a less

costly manner. P4 highlighted the strategy of phased implementation, which they have applied in the organization to manage costs, enhance investment decisions, and improve their financial returns.

## **Establish Robust Data Governance Policies**

It is essential to establish sound policies regarding data management and adhere to various policies regarding data privacy. Banks need to strengthen their level of security to protect customers' data and increase trust (Paul et al., 2023). A robust data management culture also ensures that customer data is well protected and processed to meet the laws, rules, and regulations; this includes guidelines on handling data gathering, storage, retrieval, and use and measures to protect such data. P6 explained that their measures have remained vital in guaranteeing the safety of its CRM and consumers' information.

It is essential to have regular auditing and monitoring to apprehend and address data protection regulations. Banks may need to occasionally appraise their data handling practices to check for weak points and apply the proper adjustments (Dinçkol et al., 2023). P5 revealed that auditing assisted B5 in enhancing accuracy and compliance with legal requirements.

#### **Engage Stakeholders Early**

Engagement of the stakeholders during the planning and executing process assists in acquiring their consent for change (Prebanić & Vukomanović, 2023). It helps to maintain effective control since people feel the change is theirs and will not resist it. Stakeholder engagement entails initiatives requiring employees, customers, and partners to make management decisions. Concerning the abovementioned needs and concerns, a bank can get the audience's commitment to new initiatives; this was explained by P2, who mentioned that stakeholders are involved in CRM implementation. P5 noted that, by adopting the involvement approaches, they could provide solutions for their concerns and establish a favorable perception towards the new CRM system. P4 agreed, stating, "Involving all stakeholders early in the process to gain their buy-in and support."

Another factor that is vital when it comes to CRM undertakings is customer engagement. To overcome this issue, banks need to develop a communication strategy to ensure that customers understand the new system's advantages and get helpful assistance in managing it. For instance, P6 explained how customer education programs have assisted them in combating the strikes that were evident from the side of their customers regarding the change they were implementing.

To illustrate the existing integration and future development of CRM technologies, collaboration with partners and vendors becomes critical. Banks engage technology providers to make sure that the chosen CRM system works in the context of the current IT environment and addresses the business requirements. In a response by P4, the integration issues have been solved, and their technology partners have made the general implementation possible. Implementing the recommendations makes it possible to increase the effectiveness of CRM strategies in banks and improve customer relation management. The key enablers that have the potential to deliver the intended positive outcomes of data integration are the effective adoption of data integration tools, sound training solutions, the progressive approach to initiatives, effective, flexible policies for data governance, and the pioneering involvement of stakeholders (Díaz-Rodríguez et al., 2023).

#### **Implications for Social Change**

The findings of this study are for the banking sector but may also be applicable to other institutions, individuals, organizations, and societies. Enhanced CRM could improve satisfaction levels and build trust in the banking domain and other institutions and small businesses, including personal interactions. These findings could affect social change/behavior as this could improve customer relations, acceptability of technological developments, time management, and effective use of resources.

## **Financial Inclusion**

Financial services support customers and help them be conscious about choices concerning their money and regular economic activity, enhancing financial integration (Shafiee et al., 2023). Financial access implies the provision and availability of valuable and affordable financial services for every individual and company. Through proper implementation of CRM tactics in determining customers' needs and wants, financial institutions can develop new products that suit customers who are typically ignored or considered socially incompetent. P1 emphasized the need to improve personal services to increase financial access in the country. Thus, the users of the financial products provided by B1 can use them effectively to solve their financial problems and ensure the achievement of their goals.

Enhancing financial literacy is also essential for increasing the financial inclusion level. By informing customers of different products and services in the finance industry, the banks facilitate the ability of the customer to make the right decisions (Lusardi & Messy, 2023). P2 explained how a range of financial literacy enhancement activities provided by the bank has effectively enhanced customers' financial literacy and financial freedom and improved economic stability in small communities. P2 stated, "We thrive on customer education by providing financial literacy programs to help customers make informed decisions about their finances."

#### **Empowerment of Customers**

When customers are educated on their financial needs it increases their chances of being more economical with their resources and improving their financial security (Mishra et al., 2024). Empowering customers means they have the necessary information and instruments to manage their financial activity. Hence, financial literacy programs can be provided, through which the customers will be acquainted with the various financial aspects of the banks. P4 explained, "Through their financial literacy intervention, customers have become more confident in managing their finances and, hence, have acquired better financial status."

Customer empowerment also encompasses providing financial advice and assistance to consumers. With the help of CRM technologies, the customers' needs and preferences can be analyzed, allowing banks to provide the necessary financial services to individuals (Mishra et al., 2024). P6 described how their financial advice, which is customer-specific, assists their customers in achieving their financial objectives and gaining financial.

### **Community Engagement**

Corporate social responsibility (CSR) activities show that customers who deal with banks are socially responsible citizens, thus enhancing the relevance of banks and boosting their customer loyalty. Getting involved implies active participation in some activities that support the public and are noble in their causes. It is evident that CSR can positively influence customers' behavior and evidence the banks' interest in solving social and environmental problems (Ayam et al., 2022). P1 described how the organization used CSR by building a computer lab for a rural school to improve relations, banking convenience, and financial literacy within the community. P1 stated, "We leverage community engagement and corporate social responsibility initiatives to build trust and loyalty among our customers."

Numerous CSR activities can be undertaken by organizations, including buying from local farmers, availing financial literacy, assisting in community business units, environmental conservation, and donations to charity. Through these activities, the banks can address social causes and change society. P2 affirmed that CSR had assisted them in creating a positive image and attracting customers.

Financial inclusion and empowerment programs are also encompassed in community engagement. Thus, banks should build close relationships with community organizations and government financial agencies to help improve people's financial knowledge and offer needed financial services (Ebirim et al., 2024). P4 provided an example by explaining the interactions that B4 had to cultivate partnerships and financial products among unreached groups and communities. Concerning the external stakeholders, the positive social outcomes of community engagement initiatives may also improve the bank's image, the community's image, and its residents' image (Macca et al., 2024). Banks that show concern for social issues and the community's well-being tend to be trusted and supported by their customers. P6 established that their activities in engaging the community have improved their image and, therefore, boosted the loyalty of their clients.

# **Recommendations for Further Research**

Further research should examine the ramifications of utilizing IT support for CRM as customer loyalty and satisfaction concerns in the long run. Also, research on implementing other technologies, including artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning (ML) in CRM systems, would offer insights into the applicability of the techniques being assessed. The limitations identified in this research included the challenges of data collection which may be tedious, the possibility of not being honest and lack of sufficient time to provide detailed answers by participants, which are also addressed below.

#### **Recommendations to Address Limitations**

Future research can adopt more interactive and engaging methods to address the first limitation of the tedious and time-consuming data collection process; this may include creating digital scenarios or situational-based questions, which will then be used as part of the interview process. Researchers could also use digital tools that allow for real-time data collection (Clohessy et al., 2024). The methods mentioned above can foster

a more dynamic interaction with participants, making the process less monotonous and more insightful.

The risk of dishonesty or bias in responses is another limitation identified in this study. Using anonymous surveys, encrypted platforms, or randomized response techniques can help reduce this bias, encouraging more honest and transparent answers (Daoust et al., 2021). Future research could explore the use of observational techniques or indirect questioning, where participants' responses are less influenced by their desire to conform to expectations, thus enhancing the reliability of the data. A quantitative research approach may also be used to increase factual and correct results rather than participants' perceptions or responses.

The limitation of insufficient time for participants to provide detailed responses can be addressed by offering more flexibility in how and when participants contribute to the study. Providing an extended response window or allowing participants to save and return to incomplete responses can allow them to engage with the research at their own pace (Cavalcanti et al., 2021). Future research could explore digital platforms that track participant progress and provide reminders or tools for more efficient data entry; this would help ensure that respondents are timely and can give more thoughtful, detailed answers, ultimately improving the depth and quality of the data collected.

# **Long-Term Impact Studies**

Further research should be done regarding CRM strategies' impact on customer loyalty and retention rate in the long run; this would help in acquiring more insight into the sustainability of these strategies. Long-term impact research entails monitoring customer relations for a long time to compare the efficiency of CRM concepts. Customer retention rates, the performance of loyalty measurements, and satisfaction data gathered from the beginning to the end of CRM projects can be established to point out the success and profitability of CRM strategies (Choudhary et al., 2023). P1 presented a critique of the effects of CRM strategies on customers, stating that their applicability lies in the long-term impacts of the strategies on retaining customers.

Further studies can also give information on the determinants of long-term customer relationships. Bank leaders need to know the factors influencing customer reactions to employ the CRM strategy and apply the most valuable and expensive longreaction strategy (Menaga et al., 2022). P5 emphasized the importance of understanding the long-term implications of implemented CRM strategies. P2 suggested a detailed study to assess how these strategies will impact the organization over time; this would provide valuable insights into the sustainability and effectiveness of the CRM initiatives.

#### **Emerging Technologies**

AI and ML create new possibilities for fulfilling the role of personalization in CRM systems (Katikar, 2024). Future research should investigate how emerging technologies complement the outcomes of CRM. Integrating AI and ML into organizations' CRM systems may significantly transform the strategies that shape CRM activities. New technologies can include customer data gathered in large proportions, analysis of the data, and recommendations of what can suit the customer in real-time.

Literature relating to the use of AI and ML in CRM systems can be used to define the advantages and drawbacks of the trends. By presenting how AI and ML can enhance client interactions, banking leaders can implement the means to provide higher-valued services. Research focusing on the ethical factors and legal concerns about the application of AI and ML in CRM is also relevant. Academicians should consider the probable drawbacks and difficulties of such technologies, such as the violation of data privacy and the tendency of algorithmic bias. P6 called for deliberating on the ethical prospects of AI and ML applications.

### **Cross-Cultural Comparisons**

Culturally related differences in CRM approaches can be compared to establish how culture affects CRM. Cross-cultural analysis of CRM is the utilization of data elicited from exploring the CRM strategies of enterprises in various cultural environments to identify how cultural factors might affect CRM (Isern & Sena, 2014). These studies can help understand how cultural aspects affect customers, communication, trust, and relationship building. Awareness of cultural variations may enable the realignment of CRM plans to fit the banks' international clients. Additionally, crosscultural comparisons may reveal specifics of effectiveness and proper organizational strategies the banks should apply in a more specific cultural environment.

#### **Customer Perspectives**

Another area for improvement of this research is including the customer's view for future research on CRM strategies regarding customer satisfaction. Questionnaires such as surveys and interviews in the form of focus group discussions can be employed to gather information from the customers. Customer perceptions must be considered when evaluating CRM strategies (Anees et al., 2020). If data are collected directly from the customers, researchers can understand their experiences and expectations.

A few valuable approaches for capturing customers' opinions include polls and interviews. Polls and interviews enable the researchers to collect qualitative and quantitative data on customers' satisfaction, loyalty, and their impressions of CRM endeavors (Rane et al., 2023). Integrating customer perspectives in research may also facilitate the recognition of places where improvement or even innovation should be made. Evaluating customer needs and expectations increases the effectiveness of CRM strategies in banks and enhances the creation of new CRM initiatives (Kaondera et al., 2023).

## Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore IT-aided CRM strategies some senior bank managers use to improve customer retention and enhance bank performance. This research delves into the strategies employed by six Zimbabwean bank leaders to enhance customer relationships through IT-aided CRM systems. Key themes included personalized services, proactive communication, customer feedback, loyalty programs, and customer education. IT-aided strategies such as data integration, automation, analytics, and omnichannel integration play crucial roles.

Measuring effectiveness involves metrics like CSAT, NPS, retention rates, and response times. Barriers included technological integration issues, data privacy concerns, resistance to change, and cost constraints; overcoming these barriers includes phased implementation, comprehensive training, robust data governance, and stakeholder engagement. The findings underscore the importance of personalized services, proactive communication, and advanced CRM technologies in fostering customer loyalty and enhancing overall customer experience. By addressing the abovementioned barriers and implementing the recommended strategies, banks may significantly improve their CRM practices, contributing to positive social change and financial well-being in their communities.

### References

- Aali, S., Ibrahimi, A., Mirabi, V. R., & Zare, S. (2020). The role of organizational leadership in customer loyalty through managing conflict between employees and customers. *International Journal of Organizational Leadership*, 8(3), 1–16.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.33844/ijol.2020.60479">https://doi.org/10.33844/ijol.2020.60479</a>
- Abedin, M. Z., Hajek, P., Sharif, T., Satu, M. S., & Khan, I. (2023). Modelling bank customer behaviour using feature engineering and classification techniques.
   *Research in International Business and Finance*, 65, Article 101913.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ribaf.2023.101913">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ribaf.2023.101913</a>
- Alam, M. M., Karim, R. A., & Habiba, W. (2021). The relationship between CRM and customer loyalty: The moderating role of customer trust. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 39(7), 1248–1272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijbm-12-2020-0607</u>
- Alamsyah, A., & Indraswari, A. A. (2017). Social network and sentiment analysis for social customer relationship management in the Indonesian banking sector. *Advanced Science Letters*, 23(4), 3808–3812.

https://doi.org/10.1166/asl.2017.9279

- Alase, A. (2017). The interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA): A guide to a good qualitative research approach. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies*, 5(2), 9–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.7575/aiac.ijels.v.5n.2p.9</u>
- Albarq, A. N. (2023). The impact of CKM and customer satisfaction on customer loyalty in Saudi banking sector: The mediating role of customer trust. *Administrative Sciences*, 13(3), 90. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci13030090</u>

Al-Bashayreh, M., Almajali, D., Al-Okaily, M., Masa'deh, R., & Samed Al-Adwan, A.
(2022). Evaluating electronic customer relationship management system success: The mediating role of customer satisfaction. *Sustainability*, *14*(19), Article 12310. https://doi.org/10.3390/su141912310

Aldaihani, F. M., Ali, N. A., Hashim, H. B., & Basha, N. K. (2019). The impact of customer attractiveness and innovativeness on customer development through social CRM. *Journal of Advanced Research in Dynamical and Control Systems*, *11*(11-Special Issue), 1132–1144.

https://doi.org/10.5373/jardcs/v11sp11/20193145

- Al-Dmour, A., Al-Dmour, R. H., Al-Dmour, H. H., & Ahmadamin, E. B. (2021). The effect of big data analytic capabilities upon bank performance via fintech innovation. *International Journal of Information Systems in the Service Sector*, *13*(4), 62–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/ijisss.2021100104</u>
- Al Mashahedi, A. B. A., Zhang, J., & Harjan, S. (2021). Investigating the effect of the social customer relationship management (CRM) on customers and financial performance. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science* (2147–4478), 10(1), 235–245. <u>https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v10i1.980</u>
- Almohaimmeed, B. (2019). Pillars of customer retention: An empirical study on the influence of customer satisfaction, customer loyalty, and customer profitability on customer retention. *Serbian Journal of Management*, 14(2), 421–435. https://doi.org/10.5937/sjm14-15517

Al-Omoush, K. S., Orero-Blat, M., & Ribeiro-Soriano, D. (2021). The role of a sense of

community in harnessing the wisdom of crowds and creating collaborative knowledge during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Business Research*, *132*, 765–774. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.10.056</u>

 AlQershi, N., Mokhtar, S. S., & Abas, Z. B. (2020). Innovative CRM and performance of SMEs: The moderating role of relational capital. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity*, 6(4), Article 155.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc6040155</u>

Alt, R., & Reinhold, O. (2019). Social CRM: Tools and functionalities. *Management for Professionals*, 57–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-23343-3\_3</u>

Anees, R. T., Nordin, N. A., Anjum, T., Cavaliere, L. P., & Heidler, P. (2020).
Evaluating the impact of Customer Relationship Management (CRM) strategies on customer retention (a study of fast food chains in Pakistan). *Business Management and Strategy*, 11(2), 117. <u>https://doi.org/10.5296/bms.v11i2.17934</u>

Anshari, M., Almunawar, M. N., Lim, S. A., & Al-Mudimigh, A. (2019). Customer relationship management and big data enabled: Personalization & customization of services. *Applied Computing and Informatics*, 15(2), 94–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aci.2018.05.004

Ayam, A. J., Dorsaa, F. K., Anderson, E., & Mensah, S. (2022). Impact of bank's corporate social responsibilities on customer buying attitude: The case of ghanaian universal banks. UDS International Journal of Development, 9(1), 725– 736. <u>https://doi.org/10.47740/516.udsijd6i</u>

Badwan, J. J., Al Shobaki, M. J., Naser, S. S. A., & Amuna, Y. M. A. (2017). Adopting

technology for customer relationship management in higher educational institutions. *International Journal of Engineering and Information Systems (IJEAIS)*, *1*(1), 20–28.

- Baltes, S., & Ralph, P. (2022). Sampling in software engineering research: A critical review and guidelines. *Empirical Software Engineering*, 27(4), Article 94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10664-021-10072-8</u>
- Bedarkar, M., Pandita, D., Agarwal, R., & Saini, R. (2016). Examining the impact of organizational culture on customer centricity in organizations: An analysis.
   *Prabandhan: Indian Journal of Management*, 9(2), 19.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.17010/pijom/2016/v9i2/87229">https://doi.org/10.17010/pijom/2016/v9i2/87229</a>
- Berraies, S., & Hamouda, M. (2018). Customer empowerment and firms' performance: The mediating effects of innovation and customer satisfaction. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 36(2), 336–356. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-10-2016-0150</u>
- Bhat, S., & Darzi, M. (2016). Customer relationship management: An approach to competitive advantage in the banking sector by exploring the mediational role of loyalty. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 34, 388–410. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-11-2014-0160</u>
- Bhat, S., Darzi, M., & Parrey, S. (2018). Antecedents of customer loyalty in banking sector: A mediational study. *Vikalpa: The Journal for Decision Makers*, 43, 92– 105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0256090918774697</u>

Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A

tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, *26*(13), 1802–1811. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870</u>

Bitrián, P., Buil, I., Catalán, S., & Merli, D. (2024). Gamification in workforce training: Improving employees' self-efficacy and information security and data protection behaviours. *Journal of Business Research*, 179, 114685.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2024.114685

Bocken, N. M. P., & Geradts, T. H. J. (2020). Barriers and drivers to sustainable business model innovation: Organization design and dynamic capabilities. *Long Range Planning*, 53(4), Article 101950.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2019.101950

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101.

https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Brinkmann, S. (2023). Conducting and analyzing qualitative interviews. *Qualitative Interviewing*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780197648186.003.0003</u>

Buchanan, A. (2013). The ethics of revolution and its implications for the ethics of intervention. *Philosophy & Public Affairs*, 41(4), 291–323. https://doi.org/10.1111/papa.12021

Business Queensland. (2022, December 8). New product development. Business Queensland. <u>https://www.business.qld.gov.au/running-business/growing-business/new-product-development</u>

Byrne, D. (2021). A worked example of Braun and Clarke's approach to reflexive

thematic analysis. Quality & Quantity, 56(3), 1391–1412.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-021-01182-y

Campbell, R., Goodman-Williams, R., Feeney, H., & Fehler-Cabral, G. (2020). Assessing triangulation across methodologies, methods, and stakeholder groups: The joys, woes, and politics of interpreting convergent and divergent data. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 41(1), 125–144.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1098214018804195

Campbell, S., Greenwood, M., Prior, S., Shearer, T., Walkem, K., Young, S., Bywaters,
D., & Walker, K. (2020). Purposive sampling: Complex or simple? Research case
examples. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 25(8), 652–661.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987120927206

- Carroll, K. (2022, February 16). Take online courses. Earn college credit. Research schools, degrees & careers. Study.com | Take Online Courses. Earn College Credit. Research Schools, Degrees & Careers. <u>https://study.com/learn/lesson/validity-reliability-research-overview-useimportance.html</u>
- Cavalcanti, A. P., Barbosa, A., Carvalho, R., Freitas, F., Tsai, Y. S., Gašević, D., & Mello, R. F. (2021). Automatic feedback in online learning environments: A systematic literature review. *Computers and Education: Artificial Intelligence, 2*, 100027. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.caeai.2021.100027</u>
- Chatterjee, D., & Kamesh, A. V. S. (2020). Significance of relationship marketing in banks in terms of customer empowerment and satisfaction. *European Journal of*

*Molecular & Clinical Medicine*, 7(4), 999–1009.

Chaudhary, R. (2019). Green human resource management and employee green behavior: An empirical analysis. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 27(2), 630–641. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1827</u>

Choudhary, S. P., Achari, A., & Rane, N. (2023). Enhancing customer loyalty through quality of service: Effective strategies to improve customer satisfaction, experience, relationship, and engagement. *International Research Journal of Modernization in Engineering Technology and Science*, 5(5).
https://doi.org/10.56726/irjmets38104

Clohessy, S., Arvanitis, T. N., Rashid, U., Craddock, C., Evans, M., Toro, C. T., & Elliott, M. T. (2024). Using digital tools in clinical, health and social care research: *A mixed-methods study of UK stakeholders*. *BMJ Open, 14*(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2023-076613</u>

Collins, C. S., & Stockton, C. (2022). The theater of qualitative research: The role of the researcher/actor. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069221103109</u>

Coombs, C., Hislop, D., Taneva, S. K., & Barnard, S. (2020). The strategic impacts of intelligent automation for knowledge and service work: An interdisciplinary review. *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems, 29*(4), 101600. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsis.2020.101600</u>

Cosgrave, D., & O'Dwyer, M. (2020). Ethical standards and perceptions of CRM among millennial consumers. *International Marketing Review*, *37*(5), 863–884.

https://doi.org/10.1108/imr-05-2019-0125

- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approach.* SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. Sage.
- Daoust, J. F., Bélanger, É., Dassonneville, R., Lachapelle, E., Nadeau, R., Becher, M., Brouard, S., Foucault, M., Hönnige, C., & Stegmueller, D. (2021). A guilt-free strategy increases self-reported non-compliance with covid-19 preventive measures: Experimental evidence from 12 countries. *PLOS ONE, 16*(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249914</u>
- Davis-Adesegha, J. (2024). Integrated strategic analytical framework for analysing and improving a bank's market performance during periods of disruptive competition. *Journal of Economics, Finance and Management Studies*, 07(05).
   https://doi.org/10.47101/iofms/v7.i5.22

https://doi.org/10.47191/jefms/v7-i5-22

- Dawadi, S., Shrestha, S., & Giri, R. A. (2021). Mixed-methods research: A discussion on its types, challenges, and criticisms. *Journal of Practical Studies in Education*, 2(2), 25–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.46809/jpse.v2i2.20</u>
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057</u>
- Dianiska, R. E., Swanner, J. K., Brimbal, L., & Meissner, C. A. (2021). Using disclosure, common ground, and verification to build rapport and elicit information.

Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 27(3), 341–353.

https://doi.org/10.1037/law0000313

- Díaz-Rodríguez, N., Del Ser, J., Coeckelbergh, M., López de Prado, M., Herrera-Viedma,
  E., & Herrera, F. (2023). Connecting the dots in trustworthy artificial intelligence:
  From AI principles, ethics, and key requirements to responsible AI systems and
  regulation. Information Fusion, 99, 101896.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.inffus.2023.101896
- Dinçkol, D., Ozcan, P., & Zachariadis, M. (2023). Regulatory standards and consequences for Industry Architecture: *The case of UK open banking. Research Policy*, 52(6), 104760. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2023.104760</u>

Donkoh, S. (2023). Application of triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Applied Biotechnology & Bioengineering*, *10*(1), 6–9. https://doi.org/10.15406/jabb.2023.10.00319

Duc, P. M., Agashe, A., Rawat, N., & Kargeti, H. (2023). Role of social CRM (customer relationship management) in customer retention: A quantitative investigation. *European Economic Letters*, 13(3), 38–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.52783/eel.v13i3.204</u>

Durkheim, E. (1893). The division of labor in society. Neeland Media LLC.

Dursun, B. (2023). A qualitative research technique: *Interview Journal of Interdisciplinary Educational Research*, 7(14), 100–113.

https://doi.org/10.57135/jier.1245193

Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *41*(6), 1319–1320.

#### https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-012-0016-6

- Ebirim, G. U., Ndubuisi, N. L., Unigwe, I. F., Asuzu, O. F., Adelekan, O. A., & Awonuga, K. F. (2024). Financial Literacy and Community Empowerment: A review of volunteer accounting initiatives in low-income areas. *International Journal of Science and Research Archive*, 11(1), 975–985. https://doi.org/10.30574/ijsra.2024.11.1.0135
- Elena, C. A. (2016). Social media–a strategy in developing customer relationship management. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 39, 785–790. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(16)30266-0</u>
- Faganel, A., & Constantini, M. (2020). CRM adoption factors in the gaming industry. Management, 25(1), 1–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.30924/mjcmi.25.1.1</u>
- Fernando, E., Sutomo, R., Prabowo, Y. D., Gatc, J., & Winanti, W. (2023). Exploring customer relationship management: Trends, Challenges, and Innovations. *Journal* of Information Systems and Informatics, 5(3), 984–1001.

https://doi.org/10.51519/journalisi.v5i3.541

- Ferreira, M. S., Antão, J., Pereira, R., Bianchi, I. S., Tovma, N., & Shurenov, N. (2023). Improving real estate CRM user experience and satisfaction: A user-centered design approach. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity, 9*(2), 100076. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joitmc.2023.100076</u>
- Figuigui, B., & Machrouh, F. (2020). Banking governance in the era of Digital Transformation. *Journal of Research in Administrative Sciences*, 9(2), 10–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.47609/jras2020v9i2p3</u>

- Free, J. L. (2017). "Is it our job to teach them to read or to act appropriately?": Teachers' and staff's perceptions of an alternative school. *Sociological Inquiry*, 87(3), 501–523. https://doi.org/10.1111/soin.12160
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408–1416. <u>https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2281</u>
- Galdas, P. (2017). Revisiting bias in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917748992</u>
- Gao, L. X., Melero-Polo, I., & Sese, F. J. (2019). Customer equity drivers, customer experience quality, and customer profitability in banking services: The moderating role of social influence. *Journal of Service Research*, 23(2), 174–193. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094670519856119
- Gayathry, S. (2016). Customer relationship management model for banks. *International Journal of Applied Business and Economic Research*, 14(14), 9867–9878.
   <a href="https://doi.org/https://serialsjournals.com/abstract/71472\_ch\_15\_-s.gayathry.pdf">https://doi.org/https://serialsjournals.com/abstract/71472\_ch\_15\_-s.gayathry.pdf</a>
- Gentles, S., Charles, C., Ploeg, J., & McKibbon, K. A. (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. *The Qualitative Report, 20*(11), 1772–1789. <u>https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2373</u>
- Ghalenooie, M. B., & Sarvestani, H. K. (2016). Evaluating human factors in customer relationship management case study: Private banks of Shiraz City. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 36, 363–373. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2212-</u> 5671(16)30048-x

Gil-Gomez, H., Guerola-Navarro, V., Oltra-Badenes, R., & Lozano-Quilis, J. A. (2020).
Customer relationship management: Digital transformation and sustainable
business model innovation. *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja, 33*(1),
2733–2750. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1331677x.2019.1676283</u>

Goundar, S., Singh, A., Robinson, C., Singh, E., & Dass, S. (2021). Analyzing the effectiveness of CRM in a bank. *Enterprise Systems and Technological Convergence: Research and Practice*, Article 325.
<u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/353443957\_Analysing\_the\_Effectiveness of CRM in a Bank</u>

Gunawardane, G. (2022). Enhancing customer satisfaction and experience in financial services: A survey of recent research in financial services journals. *Journal of Financial Services Marketing*, 28(2), 255–269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41264-022-00148-x</u>

- Haber, L., & Carmeli, A. (2023). Leading the challenges of implementing new technologies in organizations. *Technology in Society*, 74, Article 102300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2023.102300</u>
- Hassan, R. S., Nawaz, A., Lashari, M. N., & Zafar, F. (2015). Effect of customer relationship management on customer satisfaction. *Procedia Economics and Finance, 23*, 563–567.
- Haudi, H., Rahadjeng, E. R., Santamoko, R., Putra, R. S., Purwoko, D., Nurjannah, D.,Koho, I. R., Wijoyo, H., Siagian, A. O., Cahyono, Y., & Purwanto, A. (2022).The role of e-marketing and e-CRM on e-loyalty of Indonesian companies during

the Covid pandemic and digital era. *Uncertain Supply Chain Management, 10*(1), 217–224. <u>https://doi.org/10.5267/j.uscm.2021.9.006</u>

Hendriyani, C., & Raharja, S. J. (2018). Analysis of building customer engagement through e-CRM in the era of digital banking in Indonesia. *International Journal* of Economic Policy in Emerging Economies, 11(5), 479–486. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijepee.2018.094820

Hikmawati, S., Santosa, P. I., & Hidayah, I. (2021). Improving data quality and data governance using Master Data Management: A Review. *IJITEE (International Journal of Information Technology and Electrical Engineering)*, 5(3), 90.
 <a href="https://doi.org/10.22146/ijitee.66307">https://doi.org/10.22146/ijitee.66307</a>

Hirschi, T. (1969). Causes of delinquency. University of California Press.

Hodeib, C. (2021). An overview of research methods in speech acts and politeness. the case for triangulation. *Argumentum*, *17*, 108–124.

https://doi.org/10.34103/argumentum/2021/7

Hossain, M. I., Akter, N., & Muzareba, A. M. (2024). Segmentation, targeting, and positioning. *Marketing in a Transition Economy*, 115–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-97-3553-2\_4

Hunter, O., & Hillman, J. (2019, November). Checklist for effective communication in interviews and focus groups. *Checklist for Effective Communication Field Test Version*. <u>https://rb.gy/807qtu</u>

Ibrahim, M. (2012). Thematic analysis: A critical review of its process and evaluation. West East Journal of Social Sciences, 1(1), 39–47. https://doi.org/https://rb.gy/yiswqv

- Ihantola, E. M., & Kihn, L. A. (2011). Threats to validity and reliability in mixed methods accounting research. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 8(1), 39–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/11766091111124694</u>
- Isern, G., & Sena, G. (2014). Technical, organizational and cross-cultural issues associated with the deployment of Customer Relationship Management (CRM) in transnational and Global Multicultural Organizations. *Journal of Intercultural Management, 6*(3), 187–196. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/joim-2014-0029</u>
- Itani, O. S., Krush, M. T., Agnihotri, R., & Trainor, K. J. (2020). Social media and customer relationship management technologies: Influencing buyer-seller information exchanges. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 90, 264–275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.07.015</u>
- Jaas, A. (2022). E-marketing and its strategies: Digital opportunities and challenges. Open Journal of Business and Management, 10(02), 822–845. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojbm.2022.102046
- Jacob, S., & Furgerson, S. (2015). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, *17*(42), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2012.1718</u>
- Jerry, O. O., & Ayuba, B. (2019). Impact of customer relationship management (CRM) on the performance of deposit money banks (DMBs) in Abuja. *European Journal* of Business and Innovation Research, 7(2), 38–56.

Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A review of the quality indicators of

rigor in qualitative research. *American journal of pharmaceutical education*, 84(1), Article 7120. <u>https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120</u>

- Kampani, N., & Jhamb, D. (2020). Analyzing the role of E-CRM in managing customer relations: A critical review of the literature. *Journal of Critical Reviews*, 7(4), 221–226. <u>https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.31838/jcr.07.04.41</u>
- Kang, E., & Hwang, H. J. (2021). Ethical conducts in qualitative research methodology:
   Participant observation and interview process. *Journal of Research and Publication Ethics*, 2(2), 5–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.15722/JRPE.2.2.202109.5</u>
- Kaondera, P. R., Chikazhe, L., Munyimi, T. F., & Nyagadza, B. (2023). Buttressing customer relationship management through digital transformation: Perspectives from Zimbabwe's commercial Banks. *Cogent Social Sciences*, 9(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2023.2191432</u>
- Katembo, A. (2024). Effectiveness of omnichannel marketing on customer loyalty in Congo. *International Journal of Marketing Strategies*, 6(2), 13–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.47672/ijms.2133</u>

Katikar, H. (2024). Enhancing personalized marketing strategies and customer experiences through AI-Driven personalization. https://doi.org/10.14293/pr2199.000976.v1

Ke, B., & Wel, C. A. (2024). Elevating customer relationship management in Chinese banking: A synergy of information technology and strategic practices. *Journal of Information Systems Engineering and Management*, 9(2), Article 24663.
 <a href="https://doi.org/10.55267/iadt.07.14676">https://doi.org/10.55267/iadt.07.14676</a>

- Kebede, A. M., & Tegegne, Z. L. (2018). The effect of customer relationship management on bank performance: In context of commercial banks in Amhara Region, Ethiopia. *Cogent Business & Management*, 5(1), Article 1499183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2018.1499183</u>
- Khan, R. U., Salamzadeh, Y., Iqbal, Q., & Yang, S. (2020). The impact of customer relationship management and company reputation on customer loyalty: The mediating role of customer satisfaction. *Journal of Relationship Marketing*, 21(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332667.2020.1840904
- Khashab, B., Gulliver, S., Ayoubi, R., & Strong, C. (2022). Analyzing enterprise resources for developing CRM framework; higher education institutions. *Journal* of Enterprise Information Management, 35(6), 1639–1657. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jeim-09-2021-0421</u>
- Kotarba, M. (2016). New factors induce changes in retail banking customer relationship management (CRM) and their exploration by the fintech industry. *Foundations of Management*, 8(1), 69–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/fman-2016-0006</u>
- Kumar, P., & Mokha, A. K. (2021). Relationship between E-CRM, customer experience, customer satisfaction and customer loyalty in the banking industry: A literature review. *Research Review International Journal of Multidisciplinary*, 6(2), 127– 137. <u>https://doi.org/10.31305/rrijm.2020.v06.i02.022</u>
- Kumar, P., Mokha, A. K., & Pattnaik, S. C. (2021). Electronic customer relationship management (E-CRM), customer experience and satisfaction: evidence from the banking industry. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 29(2), 551–572.

https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-10-2020-0528

- Kumar, S., Khanna, S., Ghosh, N., & Kumar, S. O. (2023). Importance of artificial intelligence (AI) and robotic process automation (RPA) in the banking industry: A study from an Indian perspective. *Confluence of Artificial Intelligence and Robotic Process Automation*, 231–266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-8296-5\_10</u>
- Lai, J. Y., Chen, Y. X., & He, Y. C. (2023). How channel integration and customer experience touchpoints affect omnichannel shopping behaviours. *International Journal of Mobile Communications*, 21(4), 433–452. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijmc.2023.131161
- Lamb, C. W., Hair, J. F., McDaniel, C., Boivin, M., Gaudet, D., & Snow, K. (2022). *Principles of marketing*. Cengage.
- Lamrhari, S., Ghazi, H. E., Oubrich, M., & Faker, A. E. (2022). A social CRM analytic framework for improving customer retention, acquisition, and conversion. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 174*, Article 121275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2021.121275
- Lebdaoui, H., & Chetioui, Y. (2020). CRM, service quality and organizational performance in the banking industry: A comparative study of conventional and Islamic banks. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 38(5), 1081–1106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijbm-09-2019-0344</u>
- Ledro, C., Nosella, A., & Dalla Pozza, I. (2023). Integration of AI in CRM: Challenges and guidelines. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and*

*Complexity*, 9(4), Article 100151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joitmc.2023.100151

- Lee, L. M., Wright, L. H. V., Machado, C., Niyogi, O., Singh, P., Shields, S., & Hope, K. (2022). Online intergenerational participatory research: Ingredients for meaningful relationships and participation. *Journal of Participatory Research Methods*, 3(3). https://doi.org/10.35844/001c.38764
- Lemon, K. N., & Verhoef, P. C. (2016). Understanding customer experience throughout the customer journey. *Journal of Marketing*, 80(6), 69–96. https://doi.org/10.1509/jm.15.0420
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4(3), 324–327. https://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Lin, S., & Lin, J. (2023). How organizations leverage digital technology to develop customization and enhance customer relationship performance: An empirical investigation. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 188, 122254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2022.122254
- Lubis, A., Dalimunthe, R., Absah, Y., & Fawzeea, B. K. (2020). Customer relationship management (CRM) indicators influence Sharia-based banking system customer loyalty. *GATR Journal of Management and Marketing Review*, 5(1), 84–92. https://doi.org/10.35609/jmmr.2020.5.1(8)
- Lusardi, A., & Messy, F. A. (2023). The importance of financial literacy and its impact on financial wellbeing. *Journal of Financial Literacy and Wellbeing*, 1(1), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/flw.2023.8</u>

- Macca, L. S., Ballerini, J., Santoro, G., & Dabić, M. (2024). Consumer engagement through Corporate Social Responsibility Communication on social media: Evidence from Facebook and Instagram bank accounts. *Journal of Business Research*, 172, 114433. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2023.114433</u>
- Machi, L. A., & McEvoy, B. T. (2009). *The literature review: Six steps to success*. Corwin Press.
- Manca, A. R. (2014). Social cohesion. Encyclopedia of Quality of Life and Well-Being Research, 6026–6028. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0753-5\_2739</u>
- Mang'unyi, E. E., Khabala, O. T., & Govender, K. K. (2017). The relationship between e-CRM and customer loyalty: A Kenyan commercial bank case study. *Banks & Bank Systems*, 12(2), 106–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.21511/bbs.12(2).2017.11</u>
- Manyanga, W., Makanyeza, C., & Muranda, Z. (2022). The effect of customer experience, customer satisfaction and word of mouth intention on customer loyalty: The moderating role of Consumer Demographics. *Cogent Business & Management*, 9(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2022.2082015</u>
- Maphosa, V. (2024). An overview of cybersecurity in Zimbabwe's Financial Services Sector. *F1000Research*, 12, 1251.

https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.132823.2

Masa'deh, R., AL-Haddad, S., Al Abed, D., Khalil, H., AlMomani, L., & Khirfan, T. (2021). The impact of social media activities on Brand Equity. *Information*, *12*(11), Article 477. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/info12110477</u>

Masmoudi, M., Ben Abdallah Ben Lamine, S., Karray, M. H., Archimede, B., &

Baazaoui Zghal, H. (2024). Semantic data integration and querying: A survey and challenges. *ACM Computing Surveys*, *56*(8), 1–35.

https://doi.org/10.1145/3653317

McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2018). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002–1006. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159x.2018.1497149</u>

- Menaga, A., Shanmugam, V., & Selvakumar, L. (2022). Influence of customer relationship management towards customer loyalty with mediating factor customer satisfaction in insurances sector. *Quality - Access to Success, 23*(187), 169–173. <u>https://doi.org/10.47750/qas/23.187.21</u>
- Metz, D., Ilieş, L., & Nistor, R. L. (2020). The impact of organizational culture on customer service effectiveness from a sustainability perspective. *Sustainability*, *12*(15), Article 6240. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12156240</u>

Meyer-Waarden, L., Bruwer, J., & Galan, J.-P. (2023). Loyalty programs, loyalty engagement and customer engagement with the company brand: Consumer-centric behavioral psychology insights from three industries. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 71, Article 103212.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2022.103212

Mishra, D., Kandpal, V., Agarwal, N., & Srivastava, B. (2024). Financial Inclusion and

Miremadi, A., & Ghanadiof, O. (2021). CRM competitive strategy in financial institutions. *European Journal of Business and Management Research*, 6(3), 111– 117. <u>https://doi.org/10.24018/ejbmr.2021.6.3.867</u>

its ripple effects on socio-economic development: A comprehensive review. Journal of Risk and Financial Management, 17(3), 105. https://doi.org/10.3390/jrfm17030105

 Mishra, S., Malhotra, G., Chatterjee, R., & Shukla, Y. (2021). Consumer retention through phygital experience in omnichannel retailing: Role of consumer empowerment and satisfaction. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, *31*(4), 749–766. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254x.2021.1985594</u>

Mishra, V., & Singh, V. (2014). Analyzing the gap in the adoption of internet banking services: Managers' perspective. 2014 2nd International Conference on Business and Information Management (ICBIM).

https://doi.org/10.1109/icbim.2014.6970947

- Mohajan, H. K. (2018). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment, and People, 7*(1), 23–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571</u>
- Mohd Arifin, S. R. (2018). Ethical considerations in qualitative study. *International Journal of Care Scholars*, 1(2), 30–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.31436/ijcs.v1i2.82</u>
- Moon, M. D. (2019). Triangulation: A method to increase validity, reliability, and legitimation in clinical research. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 45(1), 103–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2018.11.004</u>
- Mosa, R. A. (2022). The influence of E-customer relationship management on customer experience in e-banking service. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 12(2), 193–215.<u>https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v12-</u>

<u>i2/12195</u>

- Mustikowati, R. I., Sarwoko, E., Arief, M., & Nurfarida, I. N. (2021). Marketing investigation: Customer relationship management and innovation to improve competitive advantage and business performance. *Humanities and Social Sciences Letters*, 9(4), 430–438. <u>https://doi.org/10.18488/journal.73.2021.94.430.438</u>
- Nayak, T. K. (2022). A review of rigorous randomized response methods for protecting respondent's privacy and data confidentiality. In Arnold, B. C., Balakrishnan, N., & Coelho, C. A. (Eds.), *Methodology and Applications of Statistics. Contributions to Statistics* (pp. 319–341). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-83670-2\_15</u>
- Neacşu, N. A., Anton, C. E., Baba, C. M., & Popescu, A. (2023). Financial and banking education of consumers in the context of Sustainable Development Society. *Sustainability*, 15(13), Article 10052. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su151310052</u>
- Negassa, G. J., & Japee, G. P. (2023). The effect of bonding, responsiveness and communication on customer retention: The mediating role of customer satisfaction. *Journal of Relationship Marketing*, *22*(2), 115–131.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15332667.2023.2191111

- Newman, P. A., Guta, A., & Black, T. (2021). Ethical considerations for qualitative research methods during the COVID-19 pandemic and other emergencies:
  Navigating the virtual field. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 20. 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069211047823</u>
- Nguyen, D. T., Pham, V. T., Tran, D. M., & Pham, D. B. T. (2020). Impact of service quality, customer satisfaction and switching costs on customer loyalty. *The*

Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and Business, 7(8), 395–405.

https://doi.org/10.13106/jafeb.2020.vol7.no8.395

- Nguyen, N., Leclerc, A., & LeBlanc, G. (2013). The mediating role of Customer Trust on Customer Loyalty. *Journal of Service Science and Management*, 06(01), 96–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/jssm.2013.61010</u>
- Nguyen, T. A. (2019). Improving organizational performance by implementing customer complaint management through socio economic approach to management in a case study of SME, Vietnam (Doctoral dissertation, Université de Strasbourg). <u>https://theses.hal.science/tel-03137561/document</u>
- Nilashi, M., Abumalloh, R. A., Ahmadi, H., Samad, S., Alrizq, M., Abosaq, H., &
  Alghamdi, A. (2023). The nexus between quality of Customer Relationship
  Management Systems and customers' satisfaction: Evidence from online
  customers' reviews. Heliyon, 9(11).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e21828

- Niu, Y., Ying, L., Yang, J., Bao, M., & Sivaparthipan, C. B. (2021). Organizational Business Intelligence and decision making using Big Data Analytics. *Information Processing & Management, 58*(6), 102725. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ipm.2021.102725
- Obeidat, B. Y., Tarhini, A., Masa'deh, R., & Aqqad, N. O. (2017). The impact of intellectual capital on innovation via the mediating role of knowledge management: A structural equation modeling approach. *International Journal of Knowledge Management Studies*, 8(3/4), 273.

https://doi.org/10.1504/ijkms.2017.087071

- Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP). (2022, October 17). *The Belmont Report*. <u>https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/read-</u> the-belmont-report/index.html
- Ogundipe, D. O., Odejide, O. A., & Edunjobi, T. E. (2024). Agile methodologies in digital banking: Theoretical underpinnings and implications for customer satisfaction. *Open Access Research Journal of Science and Technology*, 10(2), 021–030. <u>https://doi.org/10.53022/oarjst.2024.10.2.0045</u>
- Olaniyi, O., Shah, N. H., Abalaka, A., & Olaniyi, F. G. (2023). Harnessing predictive analytics for strategic foresight: A comprehensive review of techniques and applications in transforming raw data to actionable insights. SSRN Electronic Journal. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4635189</u>
- Owusu, A., Oppong, A., Agyeiwaa, D., & Abruquah, L. (2015). Reducing loan default rate among microfinance institutions (MFIs) in Ghana through innovative product design, delivery, and efficient loan management. *International Journal of Economics, Commerce, and Management, 3*(3).
   <a href="https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=2578603">https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=2578603</a>
- Oyewole, A. T., Oguejiofor, B. B., Eneh, N. E., Akpuokwe, C. U., & Bakare, S. S. (2024). Data Privacy Laws and their impact on financial technology companies: A review. *Computer Science & IT Research Journal*, 5(3), 628–650. <u>https://doi.org/10.51594/csitrj.v5i3.911</u>

Pakurár, M., Haddad, H., Nagy, J., Popp, J., & Oláh, J. (2019). The service quality

dimensions that affect customer satisfaction in the Jordanian banking sector. *Sustainability*, *11*(4), Article 1113. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11041113</u>

- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2013). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533–544.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Pappas, A., Fumagalli, E., Rouziou, M., & Bolander, W. (2023). More than machines:
  The role of the future retail salesperson in enhancing the customer experience. *Journal of Retailing*, 99(4), 518–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretai.2023.10.004
- Paul, E. O., Callistus, O., Somtobe, O., Esther, T., Somto, K. A., Clement, O., &
  Ejimofor, I. (2023). Cybersecurity strategies for safeguarding customer's data and preventing financial fraud in the United States financial sectors. *International Journal on Soft Computing*, 14(3), 01–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.5121/ijsc.2023.14301</u>
- Perez-Vega, R., Hopkinson, P., Singhal, A., & Mariani, M. M. (2022). From CRM to social CRM: A bibliometric review and research agenda for consumer research. *Journal of Business Research*, 151, 1–16.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2022.06.028

Pool, J., Akhlaghpour, S., Fatehi, F., & Burton-Jones, A. (2024). A systematic analysis of failures in protecting personal health data: A scoping review. *International Journal of Information Management*, 74, 102719.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2023.102719

Popelo, O., Dubyna, M., & Kholiavko, N. (2021). World experience in introducing modern innovation and information technologies in the functioning of financial institutions. *Baltic Journal of Economic Studies*, 7(2), 188–199. <u>https://doi.org/10.30525/2256-0742/2021-7-2-188-199</u>

Prebanić, K. R., & Vukomanović, M. (2023). Exploring stakeholder engagement process as the success factor for Infrastructure Projects. *Buildings*, 13(7), 1785. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/buildings13071785</u>

Rahimi, R. (2017). Customer relationship management (people, process, and technology) and organizational culture in hotels: Which traits matter? *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 29*(5), 1380–1402.

https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-10-2015-0617

Rahimi, R., & Gunlu, E. (2016). Implementing customer relationship management (CRM) in the hotel industry from organizational culture perspective. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 28(1), 89–112. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijchm-04-2014-0176

Rahimi, R., & Kozak, M. (2017). Impact of customer relationship management on customer satisfaction: The case of a budget hotel chain. *Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing*, 34(1), 40–51.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10548408.2015.1130108

Rahimi, S., & Khatooni, M. (2024). Saturation in qualitative research: An evolutionary concept analysis. *International Journal of Nursing Studies Advances*, Article 100174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnsa.2024.100174</u> Ramanadhan, S., Revette, A. C., Lee, R. M., & Aveling, E. L. (2021). Pragmatic approaches to analyzing qualitative data for implementation science: An introduction. *Implementation Science Communications*, 2(1). Article 70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s43058-021-00174-1</u>

Rana, M. E., & Ji, L. Z. (2023). The role and potential applications of cloud computing in the Banking Industry. 2023 15th International Conference on Developments in eSystems Engineering (DeSE), 4, 293–298. https://doi.org/10.1109/dese58274.2023.10099662

Rane, N., Choudhary, S., & Rane, J. (2023). Metaverse for enhancing customer loyalty: Effective strategies to improve customer relationship, service, engagement, satisfaction, and experience. SSRN Electronic Journal. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4624197</u>

Rashid, Y., Rashid, A., Warraich, M. A., Sabir, S. S., & Waseem, A. (2019). Case study method: A step-by-step guide for business researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 1–13, 160940691986242.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919862424

- Reese, K., Smith, T., Dutson, J., Armknecht, J., Cameron, J., & Seamons, K. (2019, August 12–13). *A usability study of five two-factor authentication methods*. In Proceedings of the Fifteenth Symposium on Usable Privacy and Security, Santa Clara, CA, United States.
- Reicher, R., & Szeghegyi, Á. (2015). Factors affecting the selection and implementation of a customer relationship management (CRM) process. *Acta Polytechnica*

Hungarica, 12(4), 183–200.

Ricard, J. A., Parker, T. C., Dhamala, E., Kwasa, J., Allsop, A., & Holmes, A. J. (2022). Confronting racially exclusionary practices in the acquisition and analyses of neuroimaging data. *Nature Neuroscience*, 26, 4–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-022-01218-y

- Riyanto, D. Y. (2022). A deeper understanding of customer needs utilizing customer relationship management. *Journal of Applied Management and Business*, 3(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.37802/jamb.v3i1.241</u>
- Rosário, A. T., & Dias, J. C. (2023). How has data-driven marketing evolved: Challenges and opportunities with emerging technologies. *International Journal of Information Management Data Insights, 3*(2), 100203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jjimei.2023.100203

Saldana, J. (2016). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. Sage.

- Sanjuq, G. (2014). The impact of service quality delivery on customer satisfaction in the banking sector in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. *International Journal of Business Administration*, 5(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.5430/ijba.v5n4p77</u>
- Shafiee, S., Zhang, L. L., & Rasmussen, K. M. (2023). Improving financial literacy and supporting financial decisions: Developing a personalized configurator. *Journal* of the Knowledge Economy. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13132-023-01651-9</u>

Sharma, G. (2017). Pros and cons of different sampling techniques. *International Journal of Applied Research*, 3(7), Part K, 749–752. <u>https://www.allresearchjournal.com/</u>

Shirazi, F., & Mohammadi, M. (2019). A big data analytics model for customer churn

predictions in the retiree segment. *International Journal of Information Management, 48,* 238–253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2018.10.005</u>

- Sibanda, V., & Ndhlela, M. (2018). Customer relationship management as a customer retention tool: A case study of OK Zimbabwe Limited. *EPH—International Journal of Business and Management Science [online]*, 4(2), 27–41. https://tinyurl.com/2p99vffw
- Singh, P. P., Anik, F. I., Senapati, R., Sinha, A., Sakib, N., & Hossain, E. (2024). Investigating customer churn in banking: A machine learning approach and visualization app for data science and Management. *Data Science and Management*, 7(1), 7–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsm.2023.09.002</u>
- Specchia, A. (2022). Understanding CRM. *Customer relationship management (CRM)* for medium and small enterprises, 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003148388-</u> <u>1</u>
- Sulaiman, S. M. (2018). Customer relationship management, customer satisfaction and its impact on customer loyalty. *Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Multidisciplinary Research*. <u>https://doi.org/10.5220/0008892606920698</u>
- Suoniemi, S., Terho, H., Zablah, A., Olkkonen, R., & Straub, D. W. (2021). The impact of firm-level and project-level capabilities on CRM system quality and organizational productivity. *Journal of Business Research*, *127*, 108–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.01.007
- Swathi, T. V. S. S. (2020). A systematic review and emerging performance of customer relationship management (CRM) on customer satisfaction and loyalty. *Journal of*

Interdisciplinary Cycle Research, 12(9), 1075–1085. https://shorturl.at/bimN1

Tandi, S. (2019). Scholarly contribution of Emile Durkheim: A functional assessment. *Research Journal of Social Sciences*, 10(2). <u>https://www.academia.edu/39631731/Educational contribution of Emile Durkh</u>

eim a functional assessment

- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing (GORNA)*, 7(3 September-December 2018), 155– 163. http://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Trigueros-Cervantes, C., Rivera-García, E., & Rivera-Trigueros, I. (2017). The use of
   NVivo in the different stages of qualitative research. *Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing*, 381–392. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-61121-1
- Tseng, S. M. (2016). Knowledge Management Capability, Customer Relationship Management, and Service Quality. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 29(2), 202–221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jeim-04-2014-0042</u>
- Tyagi, A. K. (2023). Decentralized everything: Practical use of blockchain technology in future applications. *Distributed Computing to Blockchain*, 19–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-323-96146-2.00010-3

Ullah, A., Iqbal, S., & Shams, R. (2020). Impact of CRM adoption on organizational performance: Moderating role of technological turbulence. *Competitiveness Review: An International Business Journal, ahead-of-print.* <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/CR-11-2019-0128</u>

Voican, O. (2020). Using data mining methods to solve classification problems in

financial-banking institutions. *Economic Computation & Economic Cybernetics Studies & Research, 54*(1), 159–176. <u>https://www.academia.edu/111790249/Using\_Data\_Mining\_Methods\_To\_Solve\_</u> <u>Classification\_Problems\_in\_Financial\_Banking\_Institutions?uc-sb-</u> sw=110545024

- Waheed, R., Sarwar, S., Sarwar, S., & Khan, M. K. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on Karachi stock exchange: Quantile-on-quantile approach using secondary and predicted data. *Journal of Public Affairs*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2290</u>
- Waidyasekara, K. G., Gamlath, M., & Pandithawatta, S. (2020). Application of robotic technology for the advancement of construction industry in Sri Lanka: A Review.
  Lecture Notes in Mechanical Engineering, 43–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-1910-9\_4</u>
- Whiting, L. S. (2008). Semi-structured interviews: Guidance for novice researchers. *Nursing Standard*, 22(23), 35–40.

https://doi.org/10.7748/ns2008.02.22.23.35.c6420

- Wongsansukcharoen, J., Trimetsoontorn, J., & Fongsuwan, W. (2015). Social CRM,
   RMO, and business strategies affect banking performance effectiveness in B2B.
   *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 30(6), 742–760.
   https://doi.org/10.1108/jbim-02-2013-0039
- Yapanto, L. M., Diah, A. M., Kankaew, K., Dewi, A. K., Dextre-Martinez, W. R., Kurniullah, A. Z., & Villanueva-Benites, L. A. (2021). The effect of CRM on employee performance in the banking industry. *Uncertain Supply Chain*

Management, 9(2), 295–306. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.uscm.2021.3.003

Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (6th ed.).

Zhang, C.-B., Wang, X., Cui, A., & Han, S. (2020). Linking big data analytical intelligence to customer relationship management performance. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 91, 483–494.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.10.012

- Zineldin, M., & Vasicheva, V. (2015). Banking and financial sector in the cloud: Knowledge, quality and innovation management. In F. Solinan (Ed.). *Cloud Systems in Supply Chains*, (pp. 178–194). <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137324245\_11</u>
- Zirar, A., Ali, S. I., & Islam, N. (2023). Worker and Workplace Artificial Intelligence (AI) coexistence: *Emerging themes and research agenda*. *Technovation*, 124, 102747. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2023.102747</u>

## Appendix A: Interview Protocol

I will use the following protocol to collect data to ensure that the interview flows and that nothing is missed:

- i. Use a script for the interview to ensure everything is captured and avoid forgetting or missing essential items.
- **ii. Collect informed consent** Inform each participant of the contents and reasons for the interview. An interview will be carried out once permission is given.
- iii. Select a venue with consultation with the interviewee that is more conducive for an interview, such as a venue with minimal noise and disturbances.
- **iv.** Use primary and backup recording devices these help me keep eye contact and listen to the response while jotting brief notes for follow-up questions.
- v. Start with the basics some interviewees may be nervous, which is necessary to build rapport. Include questions such as the name, the weather, and their interests.
- vi. Create open-ended questions this helps ensure that the interviewee's response is captured as it is and the interviewee is able to support their statements. The reactions also tend to be rich as there is no response limit.
- vii. Be prepared to revise protocol during and after the interview I may need to change some items during the interview, such as follow-up questions.
- viii. Keep track of time the interview should be between 30-35 minutes, ensuring that all questions are answered within that timeframe.

# Appendix B: Interview Questions

- 1. What key strategies do you use to strengthen customer relationships?
- 2. What are your key strategies for using IT-aided CRM in your operations?
- 3. How do you measure the effectiveness of your critical IT-aided CRM strategies?

4. What barriers have you encountered in implementing your critical IT-aided CRM strategies?

5. What key strategies have you used to overcome barriers to implementing your key IT-aided CRM strategies?

6. What other information can you share regarding your experience using IT-aided CRM in your operations?